
1

Agenda
Contact Officer: Nicola Meurer, Democratic Services Officer

Tel: 01235 422523

E-mail: nicola.meurer@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 22 November 2016

Website: http://www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON WEDNESDAY 30 NOVEMBER 2016 AT 6.00 PM

DIDCOT CIVIC HALL, BRITWELL ROAD, DIDCOT, OX11 7JN

Members of the Committee:
Felix Bloomfield (Chairman)
Joan Bland
Margaret Davies
Anthony Dearlove
Jeannette Matelot

Toby Newman (Vice-
Chairman)
David Nimmo-Smith
Richard Pullen

David Turner
Margaret Turner
Ian White

Substitutes
Charles Bailey
Stefan Gawrysiak
Paul Harrison

Stephen Harrod
Lorraine Hillier
Elaine Hornsby

Imran Lokhon
Sue Lawson

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  These include 
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special 
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on this 
agenda.  Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic Services

Public Document Pack



2

1 Apologies  

2 Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests, and other 
declarations, in respect of items on the agenda for this meeting.  

3 Urgent items  

4 Applications deferred or withdrawn  

5 Proposals for site visit reports  

Development control applications

Planning applications - background papers and additional 
information

All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked 
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this 
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application 
number. 

Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be 
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications

Site Address Proposal Application No Page 
No.

6 116-118 Greys 
Road, Henley-
on-Thames  

A residential development comprising 
17 residential units, together with 
associated access, car parking, cycle 
storage, landscaping and drainage, 
following the demolition of all existing 
buildings.

P16/S2459/FUL 5 - 24

7 Goats Gambol, 
Beech Lane, 
Woodcote  

Demolish and replace the existing 
dwelling with a two-storey 5-bedroom 
dwelling. Demolish and replace the 
existing stables with a 3-bedroom 
bungalow.

P16/S2714/FUL 25 - 40



3

8 The Old Forge, 
High Street, 
Tetsworth  

Change of use and conversion into a 
two bedroom dwelling.

P16/S1904/FUL 
and 
P16/S1835/LB

41 - 52

9 2 Gidley Way, 
Horspath  

Erection of a detached two storey 
house and associated works, 
including revised access, parking and 
turning area.

53 - 62

10 7 Trent Road, 
Didcot  

Replacement of the existing double 
garage with a new detached two-
bedroom dwelling.

P16/S3163/FUL 63 - 78

11 99 High Street, 
Wallingford  

Demolition of barn. Erection of one, 
part-single storey part-two-storey, 
dwelling house.

P16/S3268/FUL 79 - 102



This page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 30 November 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S2459/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 21.7.2016
PARISH HENLEY-ON-THAMES
WARD MEMBERS Joan Bland

Lorraine Hillier
Stefan Gawrysiak

APPLICANT Tracy Puttock
SITE 116-118 Greys Road, Henley-on-Thames, RG9 

1QW
PROPOSAL Full planning application for residential development 

comprising 17 residential units, together with 
associated access, car parking, cycle storage, 
landscaping and drainage, following the demolition 
of all existing buildings 

AMENDMENTS As amended by plans and documents 
accompanying Agents letter dated 17 October 2016 
plus updated ecological appraisal received 08/08/16.

OFFICER Emma Bowerman

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to the Planning Committee as the officer’s 

recommendation conflicts with the views of the Town Council.

1.2 The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) is 
within the built-up limits of Henley-on-Thames and is occupied by two commercial 
buildings and a single dwelling.  The buildings on site were part of the former 
Coldharbour Farm, which reflects the agricultural past of the area prior to the urban 
expansion of Henley in the mid twentieth century.  
 

1.3 The larger building on site (no.118) appears to have originally been a threshing barn 
but is barely recognisable as such, owing to the many alterations and additions that 
have taken place over the years.  This building is occupied by a textile company and 
also a publishing company.  The smaller former agricultural building to the south west 
of the site is a physiotherapy clinic.  No.119 is in residential use and was probably 
originally a cottage associated with the former Coldharbour Farm.  

1.4 The immediate surroundings of the site are predominantly residential in character, 
with the exception of the small neighbourhood centre adjoining the site, on the corner 
of King James Way and Greys Road.  Sherwood Gardens, to the east of the site, is a 
1980s purpose built complex of sheltered retirement bungalows. 

1.5 There are two separate accesses to the site from both King James Way and Greys 
Road.  The site is not within any designated area but is within the Joint Henley and 
Harpsden Neighbourhood Plan area, where there is a made Neighbourhood Plan.  

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission for residential development, following the 

demolition of all existing buildings on site.  One vehicular access would serve the site 
from King James Way.  The application proposes 17 residential units in a development 
of houses and flats with the following mix:

Page 5

Agenda Item 6

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2459/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 30 November 2016

Market Affordable TOTAL
I bed 0 2 2
2 bed 1 3 4
3 bed 7 0 7

3/4 bed 4 0 4
TOTAL 12 5 17

2.2 The development would be partly two storey and partly two and a half storey, with the 
second floor accommodation contained within the roof area and served by dormer 
windows.  The proposed materials would be traditional, incorporating brick and flint, 
timber boarding and red tiled roofs.  The highest building height is 10m.  

2.3 The application was amended during the application process following concerns that 
were raised by consultees regarding design and impact on neighbouring amenity.  The 
original plans had rear gardens backing onto Greys Road and the amendments re-
oriented these properties to face the street frontage.  The flats were amended to allow 
for the provision of some outdoor amenity space and the design improved.  The 
amendments also included moving plot six further from the boundary with Sherwood 
Gardens and a reduction in the height of this unit.  

2.4 The application plans are attached as Appendix B.  The application is accompanied by 
a number of supporting documents, including a Design and Access Statement and 
Planning Statement.  These are available to view on the council’s website at 
www.southoxon.gov.uk.  The application was also accompanied by a confidential 
viability statement.  

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Henley-on-Thames Town Council 

Original plans 
Objected due to non-compliance with Neighbourhood Plan, overlooking and 
overdevelopment.  Raised concern regarding pavement width.  

Amended plans
Object due to non-compliance with Neighbourhood Plan with regard to the provision of 
affordable housing.  

3.2 Henley Society 
Object on the basis that the application does not comply with the Neighbourhood Plan 
in relation to affordable housing.

3.3 Oxfordshire County Council Highways 
Original plans
Objected as further details were required with regard to a bin collection point, footway 
widths and details of adoption.  

Amended plans 
No objection subject to conditions requiring approval of access details and visibility 
splays, details of the widening of the footpath on Greys Road, provision and retention of 
parking, a Construction Method Statement, a Construction Traffic Management Plan 
and approval of a Travel Information Pack for future residents.  

3.4 Oxfordshire County Council Infrastructure 
No objection subject to funding from the Community Infrastructure Levy towards 

Page 6

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 30 November 2016

necessary mitigation of schools, library, day care, museum and waste management.  

3.5 Oxfordshire County Council as Fire Authority  
Requested a condition requiring the provision of fire hydrants.

3.6 Highways England 
No objection. 

3.7 Urban Design Officer 
Original plans
Objected on the basis that the proposal would create an inactive frontage with Greys 
Road, lack of amenity space for the flats and other design concerns.  

Amended plans
No objection subject to conditions to secure details of materials, surfacing, boundary 
treatments and landscaping

3.8 Conservation Officer 
No objection on heritage grounds.

3.9 Forestry Officer 
No objection subject to conditions to secure landscaping.

3.10 Countryside Officer 
No objection subject to a condition requiring the development to be implemented in 
accordance with the mitigation and enhancement recommendations within the 
submitted Ecological Appraisal.   

3.11 Leisure & Economic Development Officer 
Concerned about the loss of employment in the town, having had over 20 enquiries for 
industrial space in Henley in the past year.  However, notes that the site is allocated for 
housing in the Neighbourhood Plan.  

3.12 Contaminated Land Officer
No objection subject to a condition to requiring compliance with the submitted 
remediation strategy and submission of a validation report.  

3.13 Air Quality Officer
No objection subject to a condition requiring measures to mitigate the impact on air 
quality.  

3.14 Waste Management Officer 
No objection. 

3.15 Drainage Consultant (Monson) 
No objection subject to approval of details of foul and surface water drainage.  

3.16 Neighbour Representations  
Original plans 
Seven neighbouring properties submitted representations in objection to the original 
plans raising the following concerns:
- Overdevelopment
- Overbearing and intrusive development 
- Overlooking and loss of light 
- Noise and disturbance from future residents 

Page 7



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 30 November 2016

- Height not in keeping with surroundings - over intensification
- Loss of attractive buildings on site

One letter of support commenting that the flint frontage of the buildings on King James 
Way would be attractive.  Concern raised that the development could lead to an 
increase in parking on King James Way.  

Amended plans 
One neighbouring property submitted representations in objection to the amended 
plans raising the following concerns:
- Would dominate Greys Road – overbearing and too high
- Not in keeping with surrounding properties –  out of character with streetscape
- Lack of landscaping on Greys Road
- Impact on privacy and outlook - overlooking of properties on opposite side of Greys 

Road 
- Overdevelopment 

One neighbour wrote in to comment that the amendments are a great improvement on 
the previous plans and withdrew her previous objection. 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 There are no previous applications that are directly relevant to this proposal.  

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

5.2 NPPF Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)

5.3 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSB1  -  Conservation and improvement of biodiversity
CSC1  -  Delivery and contingency
CSEN3 – Historic environment 
CSH1  -  Amount and distribution of housing
CSH2  -  Housing density
CSH3  -  Affordable housing
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSI1  -  Infrastructure provision
CSM2  -  Transport Assessments and Travel Plans
CSQ3  -  Design
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CSHEN1  -  The Strategy for Henley-on-hames

5.4 South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D6  -  Community safety
E6  -  Loss of employment uses
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment

Page 8



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 30 November 2016

EP2  -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
EP4  -  Impact on water resources
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
EP8  -  Contaminated land
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
G5  -  Best use of land/buildings in built up areas
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.5 Joint Henley and Harpsden Neighbourhood Development Plan (JHHNP) 2027
H1 – Allocate land for 500 new homes 
H2 – Design brief
H3 – Type and size of new housing 
T1 – Impact of development on the transport network 
EN1 – Biodiversity 
DQS1 – Local Character 
SP10 – 118 Greys Road (Site Z)

5.6 South Oxfordshire Design Guide (SODG) 2016

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The relevant planning considerations in the determination of this application are:

 The principle of the development.

 Matters of detail / technical issues, including:
- affordable housing and housing mix,
- design, layout and appearance, 
- neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents,
- highway safety and traffic impact,
- flood risk and surface / foul drainage,
- environmental matters (air quality, contamination and noise). 

 Infrastructure requirements, including:
- on-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement,
- off-site contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy. 

6.2

The principle of the development 

The application site is an allocated site within the made Joint Henley Harpsden 
Neighbourhood Plan (JHHNP).  Policy SP10 of the JHHNP allocates the site for around 
13 residential dwellings.  This policy requires that the Design Brief prepared for the site 
demonstrates how the proposed development:

 Creates a positive frontage onto King James Way
 Responds to the rear of the retail parade along Greys Road, screening future 

residents amenity without prejudicing the operational retails; and
 Considers the conversion of the existing attractive buildings within the site which 

provide evidence of the previous agricultural use.  

6.3 Given that this is an allocated site, I have no objection to the loss of the business 
premises on the site.  The loss of employment premises on the site and the overall 
distribution of employment sites within Henley is a matter that was considered in the 
process of making the Neighbourhood Plan.  

Page 9



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 30 November 2016

6.4 Policy SP10 of the JHHNP allocates the site for ‘around 13 dwellings’ and this 
application proposes 17 dwellings.  The JHHNP states that the site area allocated for 
development is 0.2ha.  This measurement appears to be incorrect and the site area 
shown in the JHHNP is larger, at around 2.8ha.  

6.5 The site area submitted under this application also includes the existing dwelling at 
no.118 Greys Road and so takes the overall application site area up to 0.33ha.   The 
proposed dwellings are therefore over a larger site area than was anticipated in the 
JHHNP and as such, I consider it reasonable that the application proposes 17 
dwellings, as oppose to ‘around 13 dwellings.’  The most important matter to consider is 
the actual impact of the housing, which is addressed in the relevant sections of my 
report below, as are the other amenity and environmental requirements of policy SP10 
of the JHHNP that are outlined above.  
  

6.6 In addition to the compliance with policy SP10 of the JHHNP, the provision of housing 
on this site would also accord with the spatial strategy in the South Oxfordshire Core 
Strategy (SOCS), which seeks to focus new homes within sustainable locations.  I am 
therefore satisfied that the principle of the development is acceptable.  

6.7

Matters of detail / technical issues

Affordable housing and housing mix

Two of the primary objectives of the JHHNP relate to affordable housing.  The 
objectives include enabling the delivery of a suitable quantum of affordable housing 
(40%) and specific reference is made to helping meet the needs of those age and 
income groups who have difficulty finding homes in Henley.  Policy H3 of the JHHNP 
requires developments to contribute towards the specific housing needs of Henley.  

6.8 Although there is an aspiration that 40 percent affordable housing will be provided on 
all development sites, there does have to be some recognition that there may be sites 
where this would render the development uneconomic and prevent the delivery of any 
housing.  This is often the case on sites where there is a high existing use value.  This 
is a matter that is acknowledged in policy CSH3 of the SOCS, which states that 40 
percent affordable housing will be sought on all sites subject to the viability of provision 
on each site.  

6.9 The application was accompanied by a viability assessment which concluded that the 
balance of costs and values associated with bringing forward the site restricted the 
ability of the development to deliver any affordable housing.  Regardless of this 
position, the applicant took a commercial decision to offer the council five x one bed 
flats as starter homes.  

6.10 The viability appraisal was reviewed on behalf of the council by an independent 
consultant who concluded that the scheme could support a small surplus.  The 
independent consultant therefore recommended that the council may wish to implement 
a review mechanism which would provide an opportunity for a reassessment of the 
scheme in the future.  

6.11 Given the outcome of this process, the offer of five affordable homes is welcome and 
the applicant would forego a normal developer profit to provide this level of affordable 
housing.  Following negotiations between the council and the applicant, the affordable 
housing has been secured as two x one bedroom flats and three x two bedroom flats 
for shared ownership.  This would amount to an affordable housing provision of 29 

Page 10



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 30 November 2016

percent.  There is a need for shared ownership properties in Henley and the 
development would help towards meeting the needs of some groups who have difficulty 
finding homes in Henley.   

6.12 On the basis of the outcome of the viability process, I consider that the affordable 
provision is acceptable and would meet some localised need, as required under the 
JHHNP objectives.  The proposal would accord with policy CSH3 of the SOCS as 
although the level of affordable provision secured is below 40 percent, the level of 
provision is based on what can viably be provided.  

6.13 In terms of mix, the amended plans have secured a greater range of residential units, 
with the inclusion of both one and two bedroom flats.  A number of the properties would 
allow for flexible living space.  Some of the three bed homes have a small room on the 
first floor that could either be used as a study or child’s bedroom.  One of the two 
bedroom homes also shows a ground floor study / bedroom.  The provision of home 
offices encourages home working and contributes towards a sustainable way of living.  I 
consider that development would provide for an appropriate mix of homes to meet the 
needs of different groups in Henley, in accordance with the relevant policies on housing 
mix.    

6.14

Design, layout and appearance

Securing a high quality design is a key aspect of sustainable development and the 
importance of securing good design is a theme that runs through national, local and 
Neighbourhood Plan policies.  New development should create a sense of place, 
optimise the potential of the site to accommodate development, respond to local 
character and create a safe and accessible environment.

6.15 The applicant has considered the opportunities and constraints on the site and this has 
included an assessment of the existing attractive buildings which provide evidence of 
the previous agricultural use of the site.  The council’s conservation officer has 
considered this assessment and has concluded that, due to their age and surviving 
heritage interest, the existing buildings should be classed as ‘non-designated heritage 
assets.’  

6.16 Although it is preferable to retain and reuse historic buildings, their loss has to be 
weighed up against the benefits of the development.  In carrying out this balancing 
exercise, the council’s conservation officer is of the view that the benefits of providing 
17 homes outweighs the loss of these non-designated heritage assets.  I concur with 
this opinion and although it is regrettable that the buildings on site would be 
demolished, their loss would not result in any significant material planning harm.   

6.17 The amended plans have overcome the concerns raised by the council’s urban design 
officer.  The initial submission proposed rear gardens backing onto Greys Road, which 
would have created a negative interface with this main road and an inwards facing 
development.  The amendments have turned the houses so that they front Greys Road 
and create an active edge to street scene.  

6.18 The dwellings that face Greys Road would be two and a half storey, with dormer 
windows in the roof serving the second floor accommodation.  There are a wide range 
of building types in the local area and I consider that the design and scale of the 
proposed homes would be appropriate to the local context.  They would be set slightly 
further forward than the neighbouring fast-food unit but in my opinion would not be 
overly dominant or intrusive in the street scene.  This is because they would be angled 
slightly away from the road, and would be set further back than the existing building on 
site.  In addition, the buildings would be eaves fronted and so the highest part of the 

Page 11



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 30 November 2016

roof would be positioned further back within the site.  

6.19 The elevations facing King James Way have been carefully considered and are active 
elevations with numerous openings.  These elevations would be flint with brick quoins 
and would create a positive frontage onto King James Way.  The amended plans have 
secured a little more space between the development and King James Way to allow for 
some additional landscaping.  

6.20 In terms of the internal layout of the site, the use of a variety of surfacing materials 
would break up the hard standing.  The addition of some trees would soften the 
development and the long term management of the landscaping can be secured by 
condition.  At 52 dwellings per hectare, the development would represent an efficient 
use of land.  Each home would have a private or shared amenity space and a sufficient 
level of parking would be provided on site.  As such, I do not consider that the proposal 
would be an overdevelopment.  

6.21 In my opinion the scheme represents an appropriate response to the constraints of the 
site and its surroundings, with materials that would be suitable to its setting.  I am 
satisfied that the scale and design of the buildings would be appropriate to the context 
of the site and that the development would achieve an acceptable layout, generally 
meeting the design objectives of the NPPF and the development plan policies that seek 
to secure high quality developments.  

6.22

Neighbour amenity and amenity of future residents

The amended plans have moved the development further from the boundary with the 
sheltered retirement bungalows in Sherwood Gardens and have reduced the massing 
of the development close to these neighbouring properties.  In my opinion the amended 
plans have responded well to the concerns that were initially raised regarding 
neighbour amenity and would ensure that the development would have an acceptable 
impact on the residents of Sherwood Gardens in terms of light, outlook and privacy.  

6.23 The terraced development on plots 1 – 6 would be positioned some 10m from the 
boundary with the neighbour to the north at no.2 / 2a King James Way.  As the units 
would be to the south of these neighbours, there would be some impact on them in 
terms of overshadowing.  In my opinion this impact would not result in any significant 
harm that would have a material impact on the living conditions of the occupiers of 
these neighbouring properties.  The separation involved and relationship between the 
existing properties and the development would ensure that the proposal would also not 
result in any adverse overlooking or be unduly overbearing to these neighbours.  
 

6.24 The proposed flats on plots 13-17 would have windows that face towards the retail units 
to the south, which have flats above.  I note that this is similar to the existing situation 
and the number of opening proposed are limited, either providing small secondary 
widows or kitchen windows.  These windows would have an impact on the flats above 
the shop but given the existing situation, would not result in any significant harm that 
would require the windows to be obscure glazed.  

6.25 One of the neighbouring occupiers on the opposite side of Greys Road has raised 
concern that the development would have an adverse impact in terms of privacy and 
outlook.  The proposed development would be over 25m from the properties across the 
opposite side of Greys Road.  This separation would ensure that there would be no 
adverse overlooking from the proposed development and the proposal would not be 
oppressive or overbearing from the opposite side of the road.  

Page 12



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 30 November 2016

6.26 In my opinion the proposals would have an acceptable impact on neighbouring 
occupiers, in accordance with the above policies.  In terms of the amenity of future 
occupiers of the site, the future residents would all have the benefit of either a private or 
shared amenity space.  Some of the flats also have their own terraces.  The 
relationship of the development with the neighbourhood centre would also not result in 
any adverse harm to future occupiers.  In my opinion the development would create an 
appropriate living environment for future residents.  

6.27

Highway safety and traffic impact

The existing access onto Greys Road would be stopped up, with a single altered 
access provided from King James Way.  The County Council highways officer 
welcomes this arrangement, due to lower vehicle speeds and improved visibility on 
King James Way.  

6.28 The existing footway along the frontage of the site on the northern side of Greys Road 
in inadequate in width at only 1.2m.  The applicant proposes to widen it to a more 
appropriate 1.8m width.  The required widening can be wholly within the limits of the 
application site and would not compromise the existing width of Greys Road.  The 
County highways officer has requested a detailed plan of the footway widening to be 
secured by condition and any works to the public highway would require the approval of 
Oxfordshire County Council.  

6.29 The County highways officer is satisfied that an appropriate level of parking would be 
provided and that the cycle parking would be acceptable.  The highways officer has 
recommended a number of conditions relating to the access, retention of parking and 
construction traffic.  Subject to these conditions I consider that the development would 
be acceptable in terms of highway safety, in accordance with the requirements of the 
NPPF and the relevant development plan policies.  

6.30

Flood risk and surface / foul drainage

The application site is within Flood Zone 1 (least probability of flooding) and as such, 
there are no objections to the development in relation to flood risk.  

6.31 As is now standard practice, a detailed scheme for the site would need to incorporate a 
Sustainable Urban Drainage (SUDS) compliant strategy to ensure that all surface water 
run-off is accommodated within the confines of the site and discharged in a controlled 
manner.  As required by the council’s drainage consultant, the details of this can be 
secured by condition.  

6.32 With regards to foul drainage, there is infrastructure capacity to serve the development 
and details of foul drainage can be agreed through condition.  

6.33

Environmental matters (air quality, contamination and noise) 

Based on the size of the proposed development, basic good practice design should be 
applied to this site in order to help mitigate against the air quality impacts and the 
potential cumulative effects of piecemeal developments, and to enable future proofing 
of the development.  I have recommended a condition requiring air quality mitigation 
measures to be agreed.  Mitigation measures can include measures such as electric 
vehicle charging points.  

Page 13



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 30 November 2016

6.34 Our contaminated land officer has considered the details submitted with the application.  
The submitted report identifies elevated contamination and makes recommendations 
for remedial works.  I have recommended a condition to ensure that the remediation 
strategy outlined in the report is undertaken and that a validation report is submitted to 
confirm completion of the works.  

6.35 In order to ensure that construction activities are carried out within reasonable hours I 
have recommended a construction hours condition.  

6.36

Infrastructure requirements 

On-site infrastructure to be secured under a legal agreement

On-site infrastructure can be secured through a legal agreement under S106 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  In this case, no public open 
space would be provided on site.  Given the scale of the development and the 
constraints of the site, I do not consider that it would be reasonable to require on site 
open space or a play area.  

6.37 In accordance with the council’s S106 Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document, the following additional financial contributions would be required towards 
on-site infrastructure:
- Street naming and numbering - £107.80
- Provision of recycle bins - £2,890
- Monitoring fee - £485.95

6.38 As required by the County highways officer, the following site specific highways 
contributions would also need to be secured under the S106:
- Public transport contribution - £17,000
- Bus stop shelter and infrastructure - £8,000

6.39 I consider that these contributions / obligations accord with policy CSI1 of the SOCS, 
which requires new development to be supported by appropriate on and off-site 
infrastructure and services.  They accord with the relevant tests in the NPPF as they 
are necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly 
related to the development and are fair and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development.

6.40

Off-site contributions pooled under the Community Infrastructure Levy

The council adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) on 1 April 2016.  With the 
exception of the affordable housing, any additional floor space is usually CIL liable at a 
rate of £150 per sq.m.  The money collected can be pooled with contributions from 
other development sites to fund a wide range of off-site infrastructure to support growth, 
including schools, transport, community, leisure and health facilities.    

6.41 Under the CIL regulations, the CIL liable floor area is offset by any existing floor area.  
The existing floor area will therefore be deducted from the floor space of the proposed 
development.  

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 This is a site that is allocated for housing in the Joint Henley Harpsden Neighbourhood 

Plan.  The development would provide a level of affordable housing that is viable in this 

Page 14



South Oxfordshire District Council – Committee Report – 30 November 2016

case, and would contribute towards meeting housing need.  The proposal generally 
complies with the relevant development plan policies and would not be detrimental to 
the character and appearance of the site or the surrounding area, would not be 
unneighbourly and would not result in conditions prejudicial to highway safety.  When 
considered against the development plan as a whole, the proposal would represent a 
sustainable form of development and would boost housing numbers.  

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To delegate authority to grant planning permission to the Head of Planning 

subject to:

i) The prior completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure the affordable 
housing, financial contributions and other obligations stated above, and

ii) The following conditions:

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans.
3. Materials, surfacing and boundary treatments to be agreed.
4. Levels to be agreed.
5. Compliance with recommendations in ecological appraisal.
6. Details of access and visibility splays to be agreed.
7. Details of widened footpath on Greys Road to be agreed.
8. Parking to be provided and retained. 
9. Construction method statement to be agreed.
10. Construction traffic management plan to be agreed. 
11. Travel information packs to be provided. 
12. Landscaping scheme and management to be agreed.
13. Surface water drainage to be agreed.
14. Foul drainage works to be agreed.
15. Air quality mitigation to be agreed. 
16. Compliance with remediation strategy and submission of validation 

report.
17. Provision of fire hydrants to be agreed.
18. Construction hours restriction. 

Author: Emma Bowerman
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email: planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 17

Agenda Item 6

EMMBOW
Typewriter
Appendix A - Location plan 



Page 18

EMMBOW_1
Typewriter
Appendix B - Block Plan 



P
age 19

EMMBOW_2
Typewriter
Appendix B - Elevations plots 1 - 6 



P
age 20

EMMBOW_3
Typewriter
Appendix B - Elevations plots 7 - 10



P
age 21

EMMBOW_4
Typewriter
Appendix B - Plots 11 - 12



P
age 22

EMMBOW_5
Typewriter
Appendix B - Plots 13 - 17 



P
age 23

EMMBOW_6
Typewriter
Appendix B - Street scene King James Way 

EMMBOW_7
Typewriter
Street scene Greys Road 



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S2714/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 16.8.2016
PARISH WOODCOTE
WARD MEMBER(S) David Nimmo-Smith

Charles Bailey
APPLICANT Mr Phillip Sparks
SITE Goats Gambol, Beech Lane, Woodcote, 

Oxfordshire, RG8 0PY
PROPOSAL Demolish and replace existing dwelling with a two-

storey 5-bedroom dwelling. Demolish and replace 
existing stables with a 3-bedroom bungalow (revised 
plans received 26th September 2016, relocating first 
floor window opening and detached garage; revised 
site layout plan received 31st October 2016)

AMENDMENTS As above
GRID REFERENCE 463718/181698
OFFICER Simon Kitson

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This application is referred to Planning Committee as the Officers’ recommendation 

conflicts with the views of the Parish Council.

1.2 The existing dwelling (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) is a 
semi-detached property set within a narrow plot at the edge of the built up area of 
Woodcote. The site is bordered by open agricultural land to the east and woodland to 
the south. Access to the property is via a narrow private track lane leading onto Beech 
Lane. The site also accommodates a number of equestrian buildings and ancillary 
residential structures, including a large garage building erected in 1983.

1.3 The site falls within the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and the 
settlement is within the Chilterns Escarpment, comprising Character Area 8 of the 
South Oxfordshire Landscape Assessment (SOLA). 

1.4 Outline planning permission was most recently refused for the erection of 10 dwellings 
(P13/S3798/O) following a public inquiry. The Inspector considered that the appeal 
site is behind the built-up frontage, is not surrounded by buildings and it would result 
in the outward expansion of the village’s built up area. On this basis, it was considered 
that the development would not constitute an infill scheme and, as the site is not 
allocated for housing under the neighbourhood plan and the proposal would not relate 
to agricultural or other special needs, it would not comply with the Local Development 
Plan, particularly its policies which seek to control unnecessary development in the 
countryside. The Inspector concluded that the proposal would cause significant harm 
to the character and appearance of the AONB and the setting of the village, and that 
there were no overriding material considerations indicating that the development 
should be approved.

1.5 A copy of the site plan for the previously-refused scheme is attached as Appendix B

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 As detailed in the application submission, this proposal seeks full planning permission 

for the redevelopment of the site. The existing house, stables and ancillary building 
would be demolished and two detached dwellings and a garage building would be 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2714/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

erected. The key dimensions are as follows:-

Storeys Footprint Height to eaves Height to ridge
Dwelling 1 2 118 sq.m 3.6m 8m
Dwelling 2 1 99 sq.m 2.7m 6m
Garage 1 42 sq.m 2.4m 5m

2.2 A copy of the proposed plans is attached as Appendix C and other documentation 
associated with the application can be accessed via the council’s website, 
www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Woodcote Parish Council – Objection. Following a number of amendments, the extant 

concerns are as follows:
 The site plans do not accurantely describe the relationship with the nearest 

property and there are no dimensions shown on the scale elevations
 The garage has not been moved far enough away from Hawthorne Cottage
 The replacment of a semi-detached dwelling with a detached property is 

unprecedented in Woodcote. It is not clear that the existing neighbouring 
property would be satisfactorily protected. 

 The revised position of the southern dwelling would result in significant losses of 
light and privacy

SGN Plant Protection Team - No strong views

Countryside Officer(South Oxfordshire & Vale of White Horse) - No strong views, 
subject to condition

 It is appropraite for the council to take a pragmatic approach following the 
previous ecological surveys.

 If permission is recommended, approval should be subject to the completion of 
further survey work and a mitigation strategy

Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) - No strong views, subject to 
condition

 The proposal is unlikely to result in any significant intensification of transport 
activity at the property. 

 No change is proposed to the existing access arrangements. The proposal is 
unlikely to have a significant adverse impact on the highway network.

Waste Management Officer (District Council) - No strong views

Health and Housing – No strong views, subject to contaminated land questionnaire

Forestry Officer (South Oxfordshire District Council) - No strong views

Neighbour Support
 This proposal would provide housing and replace inefficient buildings within the 

site

Neighbour Objections
 The south-facing bedroom window (1) would result in a serious loss of privacy to 

primary living accommodation and some of the outdoor seating areas at the 
neighbouring property

 The proposed garage building would have an overbearing impact upon the 
neighbours

 The proposed southern dwelling would impact upon the neighbouring living 
Page 26



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

accommodation and outdoor seating areas through losses of light and outlook.
 There would be construction and party wall issues associated with the 

conversion of the existing semi-detached properties.
 Other issues regarding local infrastructure capacity
 Land ownership issues associated with entrance drive and rights of access.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P13/S3798/O - Refused (24/03/2014) - Refused on appeal (17/06/2015)

Outline application for widening of existing access, and erection of 10 dwellings 
(including 4 affordable units), with new estate roads.  Retention of existing dwelling.

P05/E0308 - Approved (10/05/2005)
Erection of two storey and single storey side extensions and minor internal alterations.

P05/E0087 - Refused (04/03/2005) - Refused on appeal (08/09/2005)
Erection of three dwellings and formation of two accesses.

P99/S0989/O - Refused (09/02/2000) - Refused on appeal (04/08/2000)
Erection of two new detached dwellings and garages.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 The Woodcote Neighbourhood Plan (WNP) policies;

T1 –Traffic
T7 – Pedestrian footways
T8 – Residential car parking
H10 – Infill housing in the AONB
E2 – Historic environment
D1 – Good design

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) policies;

CSEN1  -  Landscape protection
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSQ3  -  Design
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP) policies;

C8  -  Adverse affect on protected species
C9  -  Loss of landscape features
D1  -  Principles of good design
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
C4  -  Landscape setting of settlements
C6  -  Maintain & enhance biodiversity
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D10  -  Waste Management
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G4  -  Protection of Countryside
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt

Page 27

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P13/S3798/O
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P05/E0308
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P05/E0087
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P99/S0989/O


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG)

5.4 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main areas of consideration for this application are as follows: 

 The principle of development
 the impact of the design, height, scale and materials upon the character of the site, 

the street scene and the wider AONB;
 the environmental and ecological impact of the loss of some open space;
 the impact upon neighbouring amenity, in terms of light, outlook and privacy 
 the impact upon the highway network, in terms of highway safety, access and 

parking provision.

Principle of Development
6.2 There are no objections to the demolition of the existing dwelling on the basis of its 

historic or architectural significance, subject to an acceptable ecological impact. This is 
covered in more detail below. However, the principle of erecting two dwellings within 
the site is more contentious, due to the sensitivity of the location and the conclusions 
reached by the appeal inspector, that the previous proposal would not comprise an infill 
development and it would harm the defining characteristics of the AONB.

6.3 The principle of new housing development within Woodcote is supported by both SOCS 
Policy CSR1 and Policy H10 of the WNP. For the avoidance of doubt, ‘infill’ is defined 
as development which would fill-in a small gap in an otherwise built-up frontage or be 
closely surrounded by other buildings. Officers accept that this scheme would not 
strictly comprise infill, as it would involve a net gain in residential units within a site 
located behind a built-up frontage, which is not closely surrounded by other buildings.  
Nevertheless, appropriate redevelopment schemes are also supported by the same 
Development Plan policies, provided that they would not result in an outward expansion 
of the village or conflict with the council’s policies on neighbouring amenity, highway 
safety and the visual amenity of the area. 
 

6.4 In this regard, the proposal is materially different to the appeal scheme as it would 
arguably involve the provision of housing only within previously-developed land and it 
would involve the removal of a number of other ancillary structures. The indicative 
layout suggests that there would be no encroachment upon the surrounding 
countryside or any greenfield land. Strictly on the basis that the existing structures 
within the site would be removed and the housing would be confined to the previously-
developed western corner of the plot, retaining the green buffer towards the east, 
officers consider that the provision of two dwellings in this location would not conflict 
with the Development Plan. The principle is acceptable, subject to compliance with 
other relevant design policies.

Scale and Design
6.5 The scale and design of the proposal would be considered primarily against Policy H4 

of the SOLP and Policy D1 of the WNP. WNP Policy H10 also places particular 
emphasis upon the importance of preserving the open, rural character of the AONB. 
This is also reinforced by Policy CSEN1 of the SOCS and Paragraph 115 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework which both promotes sustainable forms of 
development and attaches ‘great weight’ to the importance of conserving the scenic 
beauty and special landscape character of the area.

6.6 Given the particular sensitivity of this site and the desirability of preserving the open 

Page 28



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

character of the AONB, officers have sought to resist the provision of full-height two-
storey dwellings, particularly given the limited space available within the west of the 
site. Although the strict 10% volume limit set out under replacement dwelling Policy H12 
of the SOLP would not apply to this proposal, as the existing dwelling is within the 
confines of Woodcote, it is essential that any new housing in this location does not 
have a cramped appearance within the site or an adverse visual impact upon the rural 
character of the wider area. 

6.7 It is noted that the level of plot coverage by built structures would be exceptionally low 
and both dwellings would benefit from private amenity spaces well in excess of the 100 
sq. metres recommended within Section 7 of the SODG. The proposal would also 
preserve the open agricultural land to the east of the site which the council previously 
defended at appeal. There would also be enough off-street parking provision to meet 
the greater requirements of Policy T8 of the WNP.

6.8 In terms of the design of the dwellings, it is noted that the northern bungalow would not 
have a significantly greater footprint than the existing stable buildings and it would have 
a relatively low-key, simple form consistent with the surrounding rural vernacular. There 
are also no objections to the proposed garage, on the basis that it is not of a scale 
which would compete with the main dwelling and it would have a simple, functional form 
consistent with the council’s adopted design guidance. 

6.9 Although the southern property would have greater bulk and massing, it would replace 
a much extended chalet bungalow which does not contribute positively to the rural 
character of this part of Woodcote. Officers consider that the proposed dwelling is of an 
appropriately modest scale and it would have a traditional form and detailing with both 
a low eaves and low overall ridge height. The design is broadly in accordance with 
advice within the Chilterns Buildings Design Guide and as it would also project no 
further to the east than the existing 1980s garage building. Officers are therefore 
satisfied that this development can be assimilated into its surroundings without 
materially harming the special landscape character of the AONB.

Highways Impact
6.10 The local highways authority raise no objection to this proposed intensification of the 

use of the existing access or the level of visibility at the junction with Beech Lane. As 
the proposal would provide adequate parking and turning areas within the site, officers 
are satisfied that there would not be harmful impact upon the local highway network.

Neighbouring amenity
6.11 The northern bungalow would be separated from the nearest dwellings at Capricorn 

and Lavant by a distance of approximately 30m and it would be well-screened from 
both properties. There are no neighbour objections to this particular aspect of the 
proposal.

6.12 It is acknowledged that the owners of the existing adjoining bungalow at Hawthorne 
Cottage raise objection to the relationship with the new detached property and its 
ancillary garage building. The neighbours were visited over the course of the 
application and the garage position and first floor internal layout of the main dwelling 
were amended in response to concerns raised on site.  

6.13 It is fully accepted that there would be a higher level of visibility of the proposed 8m-
high dwelling than the existing bungalow as a result of its revised position within the 
site. However, officers also have to weigh the position of the dwelling against the 
landscape impact which formed part of the previous refusal reasons for the appeal 
scheme. In this regard, it was considered important to contain the built form within the 
previously-developed parts of the site in order to mitigate the level of impact upon the 
AONB. 

Page 29



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

6.14 In assessing the corresponding neighbour impact, officers are mindful that the impact of 
a development proposal upon private views is not a material planning consideration. It 
is well established that the council can only take into account material losses of 
daylight, sunlight or privacy, with supporting advice from the council’s adopted design 
guidance. 

6.15 The property at Hawthorn Cottage benefits from a generous private area to the west, in 
excess of 1500 sq.m and the main outlook from the neighbouring dwelling is onto this 
garden area.  The areas of concern raised by consultees relate to the impact of the 
proposal upon the east of the property which is served by two smaller patio areas and 
there are a number of window openings facing the development site. 

6.16 It is noted that the two existing semi-detached properties are separated by an existing 
fence and planting approximately 2m in height. Although the ridgeline would project 
well above this, the part of the gable nearest to Hawthorn cottage has a reduced height 
and there is a reasonable 7.5m setback from the property boundary.  Furthermore, the 
distance from all habitable openings at the neighbour’s south-east elevation to the 
north-west gable of the new dwelling would exceed the SODG recommendation of 12m. 
Officers are satisfied that there would still be a reasonable amount of visible daylight to 
the windows facing the development site and it is also worthy of note that the most 
directly affected rooms are also served by openings at the opposite elevation. Although 
there is likely to be some loss of sunlight to the patio area at the boundary, the 
proposed dwelling would be located to the east of the neighbouring property. Any 
overshadowing would be most acute at the earlier parts of the day and confined to a 
relatively small portion of the neighbour’s property.

6.17 The position of the garage was moved 2m further to the north-east, at the neighbour’s 
request. Although the garage building would still be comparatively close to the property 
boundary, there would be a 3m buffer and there is considerable screening provided by 
the existing boundary treatment. Officers are satisfied that there would not be a material 
impact upon any windows serving primary living accommodation. 

6.18 With regard to the privacy impact, the first floor bedroom 4 window was relocated from 
the north-west to the south-east elevation, in order to avoid privacy impact upon the 
patio area to the south of the neighbouring dwelling. Although concerns have now been 
raised over the first-floor rear facing dormer window serving bedroom 1, this faces 
towards the south of the application site and there is a distance of approximately 12.5m 
to the western boundary. Any views of the neighbouring property from this window 
would be very oblique and officers are satisfied that there would not be a material loss 
of privacy through direct overlooking. 

Arboricultural Impact
6.19 Following discussions with the council’s Forestry Team, the position of the dwelling was 

relocated by approximately 5.5m to the north-east, in order to address potential conflict 
with the root protection areas (RPA) of the mature trees to the south of the site. This 
aspect of the proposal is now considered acceptable, subject to appropriate tree 
protection and landscaping conditions. 

Ecology
6.20 As no physical evidence of bat roosting was observed during the 2014 ecological 

surveys, the council’s ecologist is satisfied that a pragmatic approach can be taken and 
it is appropriate to require further surveys and a mitigation strategy as a condition of 
consent.

6.21 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
The council’s CIL charging schedule was adopted on 1 April 2016. CIL is a planning 

Page 30



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support 
the development of their area, and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint 
created as a result of the development. In this case CIL is liable for the development 
because the proposal involves the creation of new dwellings. The CIL charge applied to 
new residential development in this case is £150 per square metre of additional 
floorspace.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposal is in accordance with the relevant Development Plan policies and national 

planning policy.  The proposed development would make more efficient use of land 
within a sustainable location and officers consider that the proposal to redevelop the 
site to accommodate two detached properties would not cause material harm to the 
character and appearance of the site, or the special rural character of this part of the 
Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. The council is also satisfied that there 
would not be a significantly overbearing or oppressive impact upon neighbouring 
amenity and the proposal is considered acceptable in terms of its impact upon the local 
highway network.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission, subject to the following conditions:

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later 
than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this 
permission.

2. That the development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the details shown on the approved plans, except as controlled or 
modified by conditions of this permission.

3. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, a 
schedule of all materials to be used in the external construction and 
finishes of the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-
enacting that Order), no extensions or outbuildings as defined by 
Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A, B and E of the Order shall be erected without 
the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority.

5. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, the 
parking and turning areas shall be provided in accordance with the 
approved site plan and shall be constructed, laid out, surfaced, drained 
and completed to be compliant with sustainable drainage (SuDS) 
principles, and shall be retained unobstructed except for the parking of 
vehicles associated with the development at all times.

6. The garage accommodation hereby approved shall be retained as such 
and shall not be adapted for living purposes without the prior written 
permission of the Local Planning Authority.

7. Except in the case of any building work hereby permitted, no change in 
the levels of the land shall take place unless in accordance with a detailed 
scheme which shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority before any development commences on site.  
The scheme shall include details of existing and proposed ground levels.

Page 31



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

8. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved, 
including any site clearance or demolition, a report containing the findings 
of an updated preliminary bat roost assessment, recommended mitigation 
and Natural England licence requirements shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. If required, further 
bat activity survey findings shall be submitted along with this report. 
Thereafter, the development shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details as contained within the approved report. Any variation 
from the approved details will need to be agreed before any such change 
is made.

9. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted a 
scheme for the landscaping of the site, including the planting of live trees 
and shrubs and the provision of boundary treatment shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the 
commencement of the development hereby permitted.

10. Prior to the commencement of any site works or operations relating to the 
development hereby permitted, an arboricultural method statement to 
ensure the satisfactory protection of retained trees during the 
construction period shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.

11. Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development 
must not commence until a contaminated land statement has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority, 
along with details of any remediation works identified.

12. Prior to the first occupation of either of the dwellings hereby approved, 
the existing dwelling must be demolished.

13. Prior to the works of demolition, a method statement detailing the 
remedial works to the existing party wall must be submitted to, and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Thereafter, the 
approved works shall be implemented strictly in accordance with the 
approved details.

Author:         Simon Kitson
Email:           Planning@southandvale.gov.uk
Telephone:  01235 422600

Page 32

mailto:Planning@southandvale.gov.uk


Appendix A

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



Appendix B

Page 34



SITE LOCATION PLAN 

Right of way 
in separate ownership 

to that of applicant 

LOC-01 Rev A

Appendix C

Page 35



P
age 36



P
age 37



P
age 38



P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

APPLICATION NO.s P16/S1904/FUL and P16/S1835/LB
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION and LISTED BUILDING
REGISTERED 6.6.2016
PARISH TETSWORTH
WARD MEMBER(S) Stephen Harrod
APPLICANT Hines of Oxford
SITE The Old Forge, High Street, Tetsworth, OX9 7AB
PROPOSAL Change of use and conversion into a two bedroom 

dwelling. (As amended by plans received 5 August 
2016 omitting garden area and designated parking 
area, and altering opening mechanism for windows 
to overcome encroachment issues).

AMENDMENTS As above
GRID REFERENCE 468665/201779
OFFICER Victoria Butterworth

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 These applications have been called-in to planning committee by Councillor Steve 

Harrod for the following reasons:

 Inappropriate development on the site due to proximity to Tetsworth Memorial 
Hall

 Impact on adjoining street scene
 Insufficient parking available
 Proposed development will result in substandard housing due to the 

room sizes being smaller than the national standards required  

1.2 Since the applications have been called-in, the Parish Council has submitted a 
response to the re-consultation and also now objects to the application because of 
lack of clarity about boundaries and ownership, lack of parking, and the impact of 
noise from the Memorial Hall on the residents of the proposed dwelling.  

1.3 The Old Forge is a single storey Grade II listed building finished in painted brick with 
an old plain-tile roof and brick ridge stack.  The listing for the property states that it is 
probably early nineteenth century with twentieth century alterations.  The existing 
building has not functioned as a forge since the 1980s and was granted planning 
permission for Use Class B8 (Storage) as a tapestry warehouse under application 
P91/S0654 and has been used for storage since September 1991.  

1.4 The application site, which is shown on the OS map extract attached at Appendix A, 
is located within the centre of Tetsworth village on the corner of High Street and Back 
Street and is immediately adjacent to Tetsworth Memorial Hall and its garden, and 
opposite The Green.  The site does not fall within a conservation area but there are 
other listed buildings in the wider area.

1.5 The property currently benefits from off-street car parking due to the existing wide 
area of pavement / tarmac which falls within the ownership of the applicant but is 
designated as public highway.  The public highway extends up to the west and north 
walls of the building.

Page 41

Agenda Item 8

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1904/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The applications seek full planning permission and listed building consent for the 

change of use and conversion of the existing building to a dwelling.  The existing plans 
are shown at Appendix B and the proposed plans are shown at Appendix C.

2.2 The Old Forge has been semi-modernised and restored in the past.  Limited internal 
alterations are therefore proposed to convert the workshop to a dwelling.  The 
proposed development involves the removal and alteration of existing modern internal 
partitions and their replacement with new light-weight stud partitions with minimal 
fixings.  The partitions would have a plasterboard lining and be finished to match the 
existing internal surfaces.  The external walls will need to be thermally upgraded to 
meet modern building regulations but it is proposed that these would have minimal wall 
fixings and be finished to match the existing internal surfaces.

2.3 The external alterations involve the insertion of one new window opening in the east 
elevation to serve Bedroom 2.  The new window is proposed to be sized and styled to 
match existing adjacent windows, including matching shutters.  The existing coach 
entrance doors on the west elevation will be retained but fixed shut.

2.4 Amended plans were submitted when it was established that land on two sides of the 
building, whilst in the ownership of the applicant, is designated as public highway.  The 
revised plans therefore omit the designated parking spaces and garden / yard area 
which were proposed on the public highway land.  It is also proposed that the windows 
would open inwards to avoid them encroaching onto land in the ownership of the 
Memorial Hall.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Tetsworth Parish Council: - 

First consultation:
General support for the application.  

 Land ownership issues at the end of the parking area / gravelled area, need to 
be reconciled with the Memorial Hall.  

 Openings for the windows on the southern side of the dwelling (adjacent to the 
Memorial hall outside space) need to be carefully considered to avoid conflicts 
(injury of users on the land of the Memorial Hall or damage caused by them if 
the windows were outward opening).

Second consultation:
Recommend refusal of the application.

 Closely inter-related with the Memorial Hall.
 Lack of clarity on access ownership and potential for disputes with the Memorial 

Hall regarding parking.
 Use of Memorial Hall gardens in such close proximity and issue of hall noise.
 Lack of parking provision. Two parking spaces should be provided.
 Lack of acceptable provision for waste and storage bins.

3.2 Conservation Officer (South Oxfordshire) – No objection.  External appearance of the 
building will be retained and the additional window will be in-keeping with the existing 
style.  Proposal will not harm the setting of neighbouring listed buildings.

3.3 Health & Housing - Environmental Protection Team - No strong views.  No observations 
or comments to make regarding dust or odour.  Noise mitigation condition 
recommended.

Page 42



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

3.4 Countryside Officer (South Oxfordshire & Vale of White Horse) - No strong views.  Bat 
informative recommended.

3.5 Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council): - 

First consultation:
 Refuse: The proposal seeks to make alterations to the existing building.  The 

Highway Land and Records Maps have been reviewed and the proposal seeks 
to occupy land which is designated highway which cannot be permitted.  The 
parking allowance does not accord with standards for a two bedroom dwelling.  
Two parking spaces are required.

Second consultation:
 Approve: subject to a condition requiring the provision of two off-street car 

parking spaces.
 

3.6 Five objectors have responded to the consultation (Tetsworth Memorial Hall 
Committee, 14 Back Street, Royal Oak Cottage, The Old Post Office and 22A High 
Street):- 

 Well-used community hall (and its garden) is situated close to the application 
property (nearly 500 events per year) and would cause disturbance to future 
occupiers of the proposed property.

 The hall’s car park is directly next to The Old Forge and two of the parking 
spaces are outside the window of a proposed bedroom. 

 Noise from activities and celebrations at the hall and from those coming and 
going e.g., car doors and engines would cause disturbance to occupiers of 
proposed dwelling. 

 Two residential buildings on two sides of the hall’s land were occupied in the 
knowledge of the activities at the hall but find it difficult to accept the noise as a 
neighbour.  

 Hall has recently been extended and refurbished and due to existing residential 
neighbours the car park and all the doors to the hall were positioned away from 
these neighbours but face The Old Forge.

 There is no right of access, nor is there any intention of giving any right of 
access, over the Memorial Hall land for these proposed works or maintenance.

 The windows and shutters on two sides will open out onto the Memorial Hall 
land causing a danger to users of the hall.

 Plans do not show the public footpath, highway or existing Memorial Hall car 
park.

 Gravelled areas belong to the Memorial Hall as do the fences.
 Prominent location and works will affect the street scene.
 The proposed bedrooms do not meet the required national size standard.
 Lack of car parking: two car parking spaces should be provided for a two 

bedroom property.
 Parking proposed on the public highway.
 Bus route to Thame and Watlington has just been discontinued and there are 

only four buses a day to Oxford and High Wycombe.
 Exacerbation of parking congestion on Back Street: increased risk to highway 

safety and obstruction to traffic and emergency vehicles.
 Lack of private amenity space.
 Users of the village hall and occupants of the property would be overlooked and 

lack privacy. 
 Dwelling would be unlettable and left vacant and allowed to deteriorate.

Page 43



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

 Lack of evidence to demonstrate the commercial / employment use is unviable.
 Original forge use of this important historic asset should be re-established.  

There has been an enquiry via the Memorial Hall showing interest in use of The 
Old Forge as a forge and other enquiries for commercial use.  Offers have been 
turned down.

 No ventilation details have been submitted.
 No rainwater drainage details have been submitted.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P91/N0655/LB - Approved (02/12/1991)

Internal alterations.

P91/N0654 - Approved (02/12/1991)
Change of use from forge to tapestry warehouse (B8) without compliance with condition 
3 of planning permission P85/N0021.

P91/N0519/LB - Approved (18/11/1991)
Internal alterations to provide toilets.

P85/N0021 - Approved (20/03/1985)
Change of use from piano workshop to blacksmiths forge. (As amplified by plan 
received in Planning Department 6 March 1985).

P83/N0363/CU - Refused (21/09/1983) - Refused on appeal (16/05/1984)
CHANGE OF USE TO SINGLE DWELLINGHOUSE/ PORCH ADDITION; 
HARDSTANDING.

P82/N0515/CU - Refused (08/12/1982)
EXTENSION OF EXISTING FORGE TO INCORPORATE KITCHEN, TWO TOILETS 
AND ENTRANCE/ USE OF PREMISES AS A COMMERCIAL WINE BISTRO.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance 

5.2 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy (SOCS) 2027
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSQ3  -  Design
CSEN3  -  Historic environment

5.3 South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) 2011 saved policies
CON2  -  Extensions to listed buildings
CON3  -  Alteration to listed building
CON4  -  Change of use of listed buildings
D1  -  Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
D10  -  Waste Management
E6  -  Loss of employment uses
EP2  -  Adverse affect by noise or vibration
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt

Page 44

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P91/N0655/LB
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P91/N0654
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P91/N0519/LB
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P85/N0021
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P83/N0363/CU
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P82/N0515/CU


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

5.4 South Oxfordshire Design Guide SPD (SODG) 2016
Part 2, Sections 6 (Parking) and 7 (Plots and buildings), and Part 3, Section 7 (Building 
conversions)

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered are the impact on: 

1. the special historical and architectural qualities of the listed building and its 
setting

2. the character and appearance of the site and the surrounding area
3. the amenities of occupiers of neighbouring properties
4. the amenities of future occupiers of the proposed dwelling
5. the highway

6.2

Impact on the listed building and setting of listed buildings

The listing description of The Old Forge is as follows: 

Forge. Probably early C19, with C20 alterations. Painted brick; old plain-tile roof; brick 
ridge stack to left of centre. Single-storey, 6-bay, 3-window range at angle to street. 
Plank double doors to left of centre. Plank door to C20 opening to right of centre. C20 
casements to original segmental-headed openings to left of centre, centre and to right; 
that to right has C19 plank shutters. Left return: C20 panelled door to left; 8-pane 
window with C19 plank shutters to right. Interior: Queen-post roof. Included for group 
value.

6.3 Policy CON3 of the SOLP seeks to ensure that any alteration to a listed building 
respects its established character and does not diminish the special historic or 
architectural qualities which make it worthy of inclusion on the statutory list.  Policy 
CON4 of the SOLP states that a change of use of a listed building will be permitted only 
if its character and features of special architectural or historic interest would be 
protected.  Policy CSEN3 of the SOCS seeks to ensure that heritage assets are 
conserved for their historic significance. 

6.4 Externally the appearance of the building would be largely retained.  The only external 
alteration would be the addition of a single window on the east elevation which would 
be in-keeping with the existing style.  Internally, the proposed alterations would be 
minimal with new partitions inserted to subdivide the space and would not result in the 
loss of significant historic fabric or features of special architectural interest.  

6.5 The council’s Conservation Officer has considered the proposal and has no objection to 
the proposed development.  

6.6

Impact on character of site and surrounding area

The additional window and internal alterations to the building would not significantly or 
harmfully change its character.  Officers consider the proposed residential use of the 
building and physical conversion works would be sensitive to the established character 
and appearance of the building, would be in keeping with the residential character of 
the street and surrounding area, and would not harm the setting of neighbouring listed 
buildings.

Page 45



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

6.7

Impact on neighbours

The proposed development would not result in harm to the amenities of occupiers of 
neighbouring residential properties.  The building is set away from other residential 
properties and the physical works proposed would not result in harm to amenities by 
way of being overbearing, or loss of light.

6.8 The closest property is Tetsworth Memorial Hall.  The additional window will face onto 
the garden area of the Memorial Hall.  However, the impact of overlooking from this 
window is considered no different to that of existing windows on the same elevation.  In 
addition, the Memorial Hall garden is very open and visible from public vantage points 
on High Street and Back Street.  It serves a community facility and does not therefore, 
in my opinion, warrant the same protection as that of a residential property with regard 
to privacy.

6.9

Impact on future occupiers of the proposed dwelling

Noise disturbance

Concerns have been raised by the Parish Council, Tetsworth Memorial Hall 
Management Committee, and other consultees about the impact of the use of the 
neighbouring Memorial Hall on the occupiers of the proposed dwelling.  The Tetsworth 
Memorial Hall Management Committee state that they experience problems with 
complaints about noise from some existing neighbours to the hall.  

6.10 The proximity of the Memorial Hall to the proposed dwelling is not considered to be 
reason to refuse the application.  The bedroom and living room windows will abut the 
Memorial Hall garden but noise from the car park will partly be mitigated by the layout 
of the property because the two windows closest to the Memorial Hall parking area 
serve bathrooms.

6.11 The District Council’s Environmental Health Officer has considered the proposal and 
has not raised an objection to the proposal but recommends a noise mitigation 
condition.  Planning officers therefore recommend that a condition is attached to the 
permission requiring the submission and approval of a detailed scheme for protecting 
the dwelling from the external noise environment. 
  

6.12 The suggested condition will limit noise disturbance to the occupiers of The Old Forge 
and officers consider that the amenities of future occupiers of the dwelling will not be 
unacceptably harmed.  Anyone wishing to live in the proposed dwelling would also be 
aware of the presence and proximity of the hall prior to moving in to the property.  

6.13

Outdoor amenity space

A small, triangular yard area was initially proposed but was subsequently omitted when 
it was established that the area is designated as public highway and cannot therefore 
be enclosed or obstructed.  The lack of garden or outdoor amenity space for the 
proposed dwelling is clearly undesirable and is contrary to policies in the development 
plan and guidance set out the South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016.  However, there 
is a public open space in the form of a playing field just across the High Street some 25 
metres from the property.  Officers are therefore of the opinion that this space will serve 
the needs of the occupiers of the dwelling to some extent and the lack of private 
amenity area is not a sufficient reason to refuse the application.

Page 46



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

6.14

Impact on the highway 

Two car parking spaces were initially proposed on the existing tarmacked and gravelled 
areas in front of the west elevation of The Old Forge.  The Local Highway Authority 
objected because much of that land is designated as public highway.  Tetsworth 
Memorial Hall Management Committee also objected to parking on the small section of 
gravel because it falls within their ownership.  As a result, the plans were revised to 
omit designated parking for the proposed dwelling and no changes are proposed to the 
gravelled area which falls outside of the applicant’s ownership.

6.15 The lack of proposed car parking spaces in theory makes the development “car free”.  
Such developments are usually only permitted in sustainable locations and where there 
are on-street parking controls, which do not exist in the vicinity of this site.  In practice, 
officers consider that the proposed “car free” parking arrangement would be acceptable 
due to the nature and layout of the site.

6.16 The Local Highway Authority no longer objects to the proposed development but 
recommends a condition requiring the provision of two off street car parking spaces.  
This cannot formally be achieved within the application site because the boundary of 
the public highway extends up to the walls of the property.  The Local Highway 
Authority would inevitably object to a plan showing parking space on the tarmacked 
land in front of the west elevation of the property.  However, the existing tarmacked 
area will remain unchanged and there is sufficient space to park two cars.  The existing 
business occupier of the building currently parks vehicles on this land and officers 
believe that the occupier of the dwelling will continue to park on this land rather than 
on-street on Back Street or other residential streets.  

6.17 Planning officers consider that whilst formal off-street parking cannot be secured as 
part of this planning application, the existing layout and parking arrangement is likely to 
continue.  Despite the lack of proposed parking, the change of use of the building to a 
dwelling would not result in an unacceptable level of on-street parking or harm to the 
highway.  Vehicles parked on the land would not prevent pedestrians passing, or block 
driver vision from other accesses or junctions.  Officers therefore consider the proposal 
is acceptable and recommend that a pragmatic approach is taken to the lack of formal 
parking provision and that planning permission is granted without a condition requiring 
the submission of a car parking condition because it would be unnecessary and would 
not be implementable.

6.18 The potential parking demand and vehicle movements generated by the existing 
commercial use is greater than that of the proposed residential use.  The proposed use 
of the building would not therefore result in an increase in on-street parking or highway 
safety risk compared to the existing lawful use of the building.

6.19

Other matters

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

The council’s CIL charging schedule has been adopted and applied to relevant 
proposals since 1 April 2016.  CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can 
implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area, 
and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the 
development.  
 

6.20 A proposed change of use would create a new dwelling but in this case the 
development is not liable for CIL because the existing building is in lawful use and no 

Page 47



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

new floor area is proposed. 

7.0 CONCLUSION

7.1 P16/S1904/FUL The proposed development for conversion works and change of use of 
the building to a dwelling is largely in accordance with the relevant development plan 
policies and national planning policy because, subject to conditions, the development 
would respect the significance of the heritage asset, be in keeping with the character of 
the property, street and surrounding area.  The development would also not cause any 
significant harm to the amenities of neighbouring or future occupiers and would not be 
prejudicial to highway safety and convenience.   

P16/S1835/LB The application proposal is in accordance with the relevant development 
plan policies and national planning policy because, subject to conditions, the works 
would respect the architectural and historic interest of the listed building.  

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
To grant planning permission and listed building consent, subject to the 
following conditions:

P16/S1904/FUL
Planning Permission

1. Commencement of development within three years. 
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans. 
3. Materials to be used as shown on the approved plans. 
4. Windows to open inwards.
5. Noise mitigation to be agreed. 
6. Refuse and recycling storage to be agreed.

P16/S1835/LB
Listed Building Consent

1. Commencement of works within three years.
2. Works to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans.
3. Materials to be used as shown on the approved plans.

Author: Victoria Butterworth
Contact no:  01235 422 600
Email: planning@southandvale.gov.uk

Page 48

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1904/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S1904/FUL


Appendix A

Page 49

Agenda Item 8



Appendix B

P
age 50



Appendix CP
age 51



P
age 52



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 30 November 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S2902/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 26.8.2016
PARISH HORSPATH
WARD MEMBER(S) Elizabeth Gillespie
APPLICANT Mr Trevor Puttock
SITE 2 Gidley Way, Horspath, OX33 1RQ
PROPOSAL Erection of detached two storey house and 

associated works, including revised access, parking 
and turning area for 2 Gidley Way.

Revised application for smaller house design. 
previous application P16/S0099/FUL was refused.

AMENDMENTS As amplified by the overlay which was received on 
15 November 2016 showing a comparison between 
the refused scheme (P16/S0099/FUL) and the 
current proposal.

GRID REFERENCE 457453/204690
OFFICER Kim Gould

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 This planning application is before Planning Committee as the recommendation differs 

from the Parish Council’s views.

1.2 No 2 Gidley Way is a detached, two storey dwelling which faces onto Gidley Way. It is 
finished with red brick and a plain tiled roof. Parking is at the front of the property. It 
has recently been extended and refurbished which has included the demolition of a 
garage and outbuildings.

1.3 The site lies toward the bottom of Gidley Way on the east of the road. Horspath lies 
within the Oxford green belt.

1.4 There is a variety of house types in this part of Horspath predominantly detached and 
semi-detached properties with a varied pallet of materials used including, brick and 
render. To the north of the site is a driveway serving commercial units which runs 
between nos 2 and 6 Gidley Way. Planning permission was granted earlier this year 
to erect a timber clad tiled roof building with accommodation in the roof space to 
create a single dwelling in the commercial area to the rear.

1.5 An OS extract showing the location of the site is attached at Appendix 1.

1.6 Planning permission was refused at committee on 27 April 2016 for a 3 bedroom 
dwelling on this site. The reasons for refusal were:

“The proposed development, due to its scale, siting, design and massing, in
relation to surrounding development, would result in a cramped relationship
with the adjacent built form and would result in an overdevelopment of the site
which would fail to respect the character and appearance of the surrounding
area. As such, the proposal would fail to accord with Policy CSQ3 of the South
Oxfordshire Core Strategy, policies G2, D1 and H4 of the South Oxfordshire
Local Plan and guidance contained within the South Oxfordshire Design Guide
and the National planning Policy Framework.”

Page 53

Agenda Item 9

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S2902/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 30 November 2016

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 This current proposal seeks full planning permission to erect a two storey, two bedroom 

dwelling with vehicular access, off street parking and turning facilities.

2.2 The dwelling would be finished with red facing bricks to match no 2 Gidley Way with 
Stafford blue bricks used for quoins, soldier courses above windows and door openings 
and below the damp proof course. The north east elevation would be painted with 
smooth render with brick quoins.

2.3 This application is materially different to the one which was refused in that it is a 2 
bedroom rather than a 3 bed dwelling. It has been reduced in width from 7 metres to 
5.7 metres and in depth from 11.3 metres to 10.3 metres.

2.4 The land falls north east (high) to south west (low). The proposed dwelling reflects this 
by having its floor level some 0.6m below that of the host property.

2.5 Both the existing and proposed dwellings have car parking and turning areas at the 
front of the site.

2.6 A copy of some of the application plans are attached at Appendix 2. The full 
submission including the design and access statement can be seen on the council’s 
website at www.southoxon.gov.uk

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Horspath Parish Council – Object - Horspath Parish Councillors consider that this 

application should be refused as it is an over development of the site

OCC (Highways)- No objection subject to conditions relating to access, parking and 
surface water drainage.

Neighbour Objections (2) 

 Insufficient parking/turning left for the occupiers of no 2 Gidley Way
 Will exacerbate existing parking problem on Gidley Way
 Inappropriate blue brick details
 Overdevelopment of the site
 Unneighbourly 

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P16/S0099/FUL - Refused (27/04/2016)

Erection of a detached two storey house and associated works including revised 
access, parking and turning area for 2 Gidley Way. (As amended by plan refs 
VL.2015/44/03, 44/05, 44/04 and 44/01 received on 7 March 2016 which reduce the 
depth of the proposed dwelling).

P12/S2788/HH - Approved (11/01/2013)
Removal of structures, construction of extension to dwelling, new roof construction, 
sundry remodelling works.

P12/S2400/PEM - (response 05/11/2012)
Construction of one detached dwelling to the side of existing property.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies

Page 54

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S0099/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P12/S2788/HH
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P12/S2400/PEM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 30 November 2016

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSEN2  -  Green Belt protection
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSR1  -  Housing in villages
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;

D1  -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
GB4  -  Openness of Green Belt maintained
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide  2016

Section 7 – Buildings and plots.

5.3 National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

5.4 Horspath Neighbourhood Plan – emerging (area designation). Limited weight at 
this stage.

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The main issues to be considered in the determination of this planning application are:

 Whether the principle of a new dwelling is acceptable in this location
 Impact on the openness and visual amenity of the Oxford green belt
 Policy H4 criteria of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 
 Garden sizes
 Whether this current proposal overcomes the reason for refusal of planning ref 

P16/S0099/FUL
 CIL
 Other issues

6.2 Principle
Policy CSR1 of the SOCS allows for infill development within the larger villages of the 
District such as Horspath. Infill development is defined as the filling of a small gap in an 
otherwise built up frontage or on sites within settlements where the site is closely 
surrounded by buildings. This site is within the built up limits of Horspath in a continual 
row of residential development and is closely surrounded by buildings. As such, it is 
your officers’ opinion that the principle of residential development on this site is 
acceptable.

6.3 Notwithstanding the above, the council cannot currently demonstrate a five year supply 
of deliverable housing land. Paragraph 49 of the NPPF makes it clear that relevant 
policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local 
planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing land 

Page 55



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 30 November 2016

and the ‘presumption favour of sustainable development’ should be applied. The 
mechanism for applying that presumption is set out in paragraph 14 of the NPPF. This 
advises that where relevant policies are out-of-date (unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise) then permission should be granted, unless any adverse impacts of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed 
against the policies in the NPPF taken as a whole or where specific policies in the 
NPPF indicate development should be restricted.

6.4 Impact on the green belt
The site lies within the Oxford green belt where there is a presumption against 
inappropriate development which is, by definition, harmful to the openness and visual 
amenity of the green belt. The fundamental aim of the green belt policy is to prevent 
urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open. The first step in assessing the impact 
on the green belt is to consider whether the proposal constitutes inappropriate 
development or not. If it is established that the development is not inappropriate then 
the next step is to consider whether development harms the openness of the green 
belt.

6.5 The NPPF advises that where villages are included within the green belt, it has to be 
because they too contribute to its openness. The site is considered as an infill plot as it 
is a small gap in an otherwise built up frontage and is closely surrounded by buildings 
in a village where the principle of infill is acceptable. CSR1 considers that if a site meets 
the definition of infill, then it will be part of a built up area and there would be harm to 
the openness but that it would be limited. In this case, it is your officers’ view that in the 
context of the wider visual impact and amenity of the green belt, the siting of the new 
dwelling in a line of existing development would not harm the wider openness of the 
green belt.

6.6 Policy H4 criteria
Where the principle of residential development is acceptable, the development must 
also comply with the following criteria of Policy H4 of the SOLP.

i. An important open space of public, environmental or ecological value 
is not lost nor an important public view spoilt. The site is currently the 
side and part rear garden of no 2 Gidley Way. As such, it is not an important 
open space of public interest.

ii. The design, height and scale and materials of the proposed 
development are in keeping with its surroundings.  The proposed 
dwelling would be detached and would have a lower ridge height than no 2 
Gidley Way, given the lay of the land. The proposed materials for the new 
dwelling are dark brown plain tiles brick elevations with the north east 
elevation painted smooth render with brick. Stafford blue bricks are 
proposed for the quoins, soldier courses above window and door openings. 
Given the variety of materials used in the vicinity of the site and the fact that 
no 2 Gidley Way is also a detached dwelling, the new development would 
be in keeping with its surroundings in your officers’ opinion.

iii. The character of the area is not adversely affected. The character of the 
area is an established residential area consisting predominantly of detached 
and semi-detached dwellings. The erection of a single dwelling on this plot 
would continue an existing row of dwellings along the southern side of 
Gidley Way and would not adversely affect the established character of the 
area.

Page 56



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 30 November 2016

iv. There are no overriding environmental or highway objections

Highway issues – The County Highway Authority has raised no objection to 
the development subject to conditions relating to parking and turning. They           
are satisfied that sufficient space has been provided to allow for adequate 
parking and turning areas for both no 2 Gidley Way and the new dwelling. 

                              Neighbour impact - The proposed new dwelling has been designed to 
minimise overlooking . In the southern elevation which faces Cuddesdon 
Road, there are no first floor windows. As such there would not be any direct 
overlooking from windows towards properties in Cuddesdon Road. In 
addition, the southern elevation would be some 3.75 metres (max) and 1.32 
metres (minimum) from the joint boundary with the Cuddesdon Road 
properties. These dwellings have relatively long rear gardens so the distance 
between the new dwelling and any nearest windows on Cuddesdon Road 
would be some 38 metres. As such the proposed new dwelling would not be 
oppressive or overbearing on the occupiers of these dwellings. 

                              The new dwelling would retain a gap of some 2 metres to the side elevation 
of 2 Gidley Way. At the rear, there is a first floor bedroom window which 
would look towards no 4 Gidley Way and the new building which has recently 
been granted planning permission under ref P15/S3822/FUL. In addition, the 
new building to the rear of no 2 Gidley Way is orientated to face northward so 
there are not principal windows in the western elevation. A condition is 
proposed to ensure that the first floor landing window in the north east 
elevation is obscure glazed and fixed shut which will protect the amenity of 
the occupiers of no 2 Gidley Way.

v. If the proposal constitutes backland development it would not create    
problems of privacy and access and would not extend the built up limits 
of the settlement. The proposed dwelling fronts the road so would not 
constitute backland development.

6.7 Garden sizes
Policy D3 of the SOLP requires that a private outdoor garden or outdoor amenity space 
should be provided for all new dwellings. The amount of land to be used for the garden 
or amenity space will be determined by the size of dwelling proposed. This policy and 
the SODG seek to ensure that reasonable standards of private amenity space are 
provided in new developments. No 2 Gidley Way is a 4 bed dwelling and the proposed 
new dwelling is a 2 bed dwelling. The council’s recommended garden sizes for a 3 bed 
(or above) dwelling is 100sqm and 50sqm for a 2 bed dwelling. In this case, the host 
dwelling at no 2 Gidley Way would retain a rear garden of some 82sqm and the new 
dwelling would have a rear garden of some 92 sq.m including the rear patio area. As 
such, although the host dwelling would be left with a garden which falls short of the 
council’s standard for garden size by some 18sqm, the new dwelling would have a 
garden which is nearly twice the recommended standard. It is your officers’ view that 
such a development does not constitute over development. Indeed, the council has 
generally not been successful on appeal in cases where the gardens to new dwellings 
have not fully met the council’s standards on garden sizes. Appeal inspectors have 
generally taken the view that any purchase of the property would be aware of the 
garden size prior to purchasing the property.

6.8 Whether this proposal overcomes the reasons for refusal of planning ref 
P16/S0099/FUL. 
The refused planning application was for a single 3 bed dwelling on this site. The 
reason for refusal is set out in full in para 1.5 above. In summary the application was 
refused on the grounds of being overdevelopment by way of being cramped and out of 

Page 57



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  – 30 November 2016

character. It is your officers’ opinion that the applicant and his agent has addressed 
these concerns with this revised proposal. The main differences between the 2 
schemes can be summarised as follows:

 The current proposal has 2 rather than 3 bedrooms – this has implications for 
the required garden size. 

 The current proposal is some 1.3m narrower than the refused scheme so takes 
up less of the site width.

 The current proposal is over 1 metre less deep than the refused scheme.
 The current proposal has a garden size almost twice the required size for a 2 

bed dwelling. It was substandard previously.
 There is now a gap to the boundary with the properties along Cuddesdon Road 

of at least 1.32 metres (minimum). 

6.9 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The council’s CIL charging schedule was 
adopted in April 2016. CIL is a planning charge that local authorities can implement to 
help deliver infrastructure and to support the development of their area, and is primarily 
calculated on the increase in footprint created as a result of the development. In this 
case CIL is liable for the whole building because the proposal involves the creation of a 
new dwelling. The CIL charge applied to new residential development in this case is 
£150 per square metre of additional floorspace (zone1). 15% of the CIL will go directly 
to Horspath Parish Council (in the absence of an adopted Neighbourhood Plan) for 
spending towards local projects.

                             
7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Your officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the development 

constitutes infill development as it lies within the built up limits of Horspath, is a small 
gap in an otherwise frontage and is closely surrounded by buildings. As such the 
scheme is a sustainable form of development. The proposal does not materially harm 
the wider openness or visual amenity of the green belt. The proposal affords for 
adequate amenity space and parking for both dwellings and does not result in a 
materially harmful unneighbourly impact on the adjacent dwellings. As such there are 
no technical reasons to refuse this application. With the recommended conditions, the 
development accords with the relevant Development Plan policies.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions:

1 : Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2 : Approved plans. 
3 : Existing vehicular access. 
4 : Parking and manoeuvring areas retained. 
5 : No surface water drainage to the highway.
6 : Sample materials required (walls and roof).
7 : Obscure glazing for landing window.
8 : Withdrawal of permitted development rights (Part 1 Class A) - no extensions 
etc.
9 : Withdrawal of permitted development rights (Part 1 Class E) - no buildings etc.

Author: :Kim Gould
E-mail: kim.gould@southandvale.gov.uk
Contact No: 01235 540546

Page 58

mailto:kim.gould@southandvale.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



Appendix 2

P
age 60



P
age 61



P
age 62



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 30 November 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S3163/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 22.9.2016
PARISH DIDCOT
WARD MEMBER(S) Tony Harbour

Bill Service
Steve Connel

APPLICANT Mr & Mrs  Barnes
SITE 7 Trent Road, Didcot, OX11 7QQ
PROPOSAL Replacement of existing double garage with a new 

detached 2 bedroom dwelling. 
AMENDMENTS As amended by Drawing 1000.01/A003 Rev PL/C 

showing car parking spaces accompanying letter 
dated 11 October 2016.

GRID REFERENCE 453610/190670
OFFICER Paul Bowers

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application is referred to planning committee because the views of the Didcot 

Town Council differ from the officer’s recommendation. 

1.2 The site comprises part of the existing residential curtilage of 7 Trent Road which is a 
detached two storey dwelling set back from the boundary with Trent Road and 
accessed via a shared driveway. It includes a detached double, pitched roof garage to 
the front with garage doors facing west and the access to the highway which also 
serves numbers 9 and 11 Trent Road. 

1.3 A plan identifying the site can be found at Appendix 1 to this report. 

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission from the council to replace the existing 

garage building with a two storey detached two bedroom dwelling with associated 
parking and garden space.

2.2 The application has been amended to show how two car parking spaces can be 
achieved on the site. 

2.3 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application can be found at Appendix 
2 to this report. All the plans and representations can be viewed on the council’s 
website www.southoxon.gov.uk under the planning application reference number.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
3.1 Didcot Town Council – Recommend refusal of planning permission to the scheme as 

as amended and including the following concerns as their reasons ;

- Parking.
- Impact on the street scene.
- Loss of light.
- Overdevelopment.
- Lack of amenity space. 

Page 63

Agenda Item 10

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3163/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 30 November 2016

Neighbour Responses – 

2 x properties made objections some across several separate responses to the scheme 
as originally submitted covering the following issues;

- The dwelling is out of keeping with adjoining properties because of its position 
forward on the plot.

- Loss of light to number 5 Trent Road.
- Loss of privacy to 5 Trent Road.
- Insufficient parking and leading to parking on the road.
- Builders vehicles parking on the highway.
- Not in keeping with the original vision of the developer.

6 x properties made objections some across several separate responses to the 
amended scheme submitted covering the following issues;

- Not an infill site as it is currently occupied by a garage.
- Insufficient parking.
- Low levels of light at number 5 Trent Road.
- Concern about comments from the applicant about light levels in 5 Trent Road.

Highways Liaison Officer - No objection following the submission of amended plans 
but request conditions relating to the the provision of parking.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 None. 

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 policies
CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSDID3  -  New housing at Didcot
CSQ3  -  Design

South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;
D1  - Principles of good design
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers
G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 The issues to consider in relation to this proposal are;

 The principle of development.
 Whether the proposal accords with the criteria of Policy H4. 
 Garden size.
 Impact on the amenities of the occupants of nearby properties. 

Page 64



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 30 November 2016

 Impact on highway safety. 
 Other issues.

6.2

The principle of development.

Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Section 70 (2) of 
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the local planning authority shall 
have regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the 
application, and to any other material considerations.  

6.3 In the case of this application, the most relevant parts of the Development Plan are the 
South Oxfordshire Core Strategy 2027 (SOCS) which was adopted in December 2012 
and the saved policies of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (SOLP). 

6.4 Development which is not in accordance with an up-to-date development plan should 
be refused unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

6.5 Paragraph 14 of the NPPF advises that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.  

For decision-taking this means “approving development proposals that accord with the 
development plan without delay; and where the development plan is absent, silent or 
relevant policies are out-of-date, granting permission unless: – any adverse impacts of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or – specific policies 
in this Framework indicate development should be restricted.”

6.6 Policy CS1 of the SOCS echoes the provisions of Paragraph 14 of the NPPF. Policy 
CSS1 of the SOCS sets out the overall development strategy for the District and 
advises that proposals should be consistent with the overall strategy of focusing 
major new development in Didcot; supporting the roles of Henley, Thame and
Wallingford by regenerating town centres and providing new housing, services and 
infrastructure; supporting the 12 larger villages of the District as local service centres; 
supporting the smaller and other villages by allowing for limited amounts of housing; 
and outside of the above areas, any changes will need to relate to very specific needs.

6.7 Currently the council cannot demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply and the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development, set out in Paragraph 14 of the 
NPPF, applies. This means that our core strategy housing policies, including the 
element of SOCS Policy CSDID3 relating to housing in Didcot, are out of date and are 
given less weight in our decision making.

6.8 In this particular case the site is located within an established residential estate in the 
built confines of Didcot. Although the element of Policy CSDID3 which permits infill 
development in the town no longer carries significant weight, this site is very clearly in a 
sustainable location. The requirement that the development must be ‘infill’ no longer 
applies. However in any event this site, although not an existing gap in an otherwise 
built up frontage, is closely surrounded by buildings on all sides and in my view would 
meet the definition of infill development. 

6.9 I conclude that this is a sustainable location and would be considered infill 
development. The lack of a 5 year land supply engages the presumption in favour of 

Page 65



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 30 November 2016

sustainable development which in my view this scheme is proposing. This fact has 
significant weight in terms of the planning balance. Whilst the provision of a single unit 
is unlikely to contribute in a meaningful way to the current shortfall of housing, the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development applies unless there is significant 
and demonstrable harm that outweighs the benefit of permitting what would otherwise 
be a sustainable form of development. 

6.10 This is important in the consideration of this application as it is set out in the following 
sections of this report that there is harm that would be caused by this development but 
the fact that paragraph 14 of the NPPF is engaged this harm has to be of such a scale 
that it is both significant and demonstrable. 

6.11

Whether the proposal accords with the criteria of Policy H4 of SOLP. 

If a proposed housing development is acceptable in principle then the detail of the 
proposal must be assessed against the criteria of Policy H4 which deals with new 
housing.

6.12 The two policies in the main cover the same issues with the criteria of Policy H4 also 
including reference to criteria relating to the physical works of development. 
Provision (i) of Policy H4 states ‘an important open space of public, environmental 
or ecological value is not lost, nor an important view spoilt.’ Provision (ii) states 
‘the design, height, scale and materials of the proposed development are in 
keeping with its surroundings.’ whilst Provision (iii) states that the ‘character of the 
area in not adversely affected.’ 

6.13 This new building replaces an existing single storey detached pitched roof garage 
forward of the existing 7 Trent Road. Although there is screening along the boundary 
with the road the garage is visible and forms part of the character of the street scene. 

There is understandably concern about having a two storey dwelling sited forward of 
the properties on either side. The height of the building will mean that it is far more 
visible than the existing garage. In terms of overall design the building is simple in form 
and appearance. The dwellings on this part of the Ladygrove Estate are not uniform in 
their appearance, design or materials. In my view this dwelling would add to the variety 
and pallet of design in the immediate area rather than be so different it would be at 
odds with the wider character of the estate. 

6.14 The position forward of the adjoining properties will be at odds with the immediate 
properties. However, as one travels through the estate it is clear that the siting of 
properties is not uniform and do differ throughout. A number of buildings are sited on 
the boundary of the road both front on and side on to the highway. I accept however 
that in this immediate area it will be at odds with its surroundings. However, going back 
to weighing this harm in the balance and considering the weight given to the fact that 
this is a sustainable form of development, the harm that it would cause to the visual 
amenity of the area will not in my opinion be so great that it would be significant. It 
would not outweigh the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

6.15 Provision iv) of Policy H4 states that there should be no overriding amenity or 
environmental or highway objections. 

In terms of amenity this refers to both the amenity space being provided for the 
occupants of the existing and new property and also the amenity of occupants of 
nearby properties. These issues are also covered by other policies within SOLP such 
as Policy D3 and T1 and they are considered separately as they are fundamental 

Page 66



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 30 November 2016

issues to this proposal. 

6.16 In respect of the element of provision iv) that relates to the environment there are no 
environmental issues that would justify resisting the proposal.

6.17

Plot coverage and garden size. 

Policy D3 of SOCS seeks to ensure that new dwellings should provide adequate private 
outdoor space. The amount of land to be used for garden or amenity space will be 
determined by the size of the dwelling and the character of surrounding development.

6.18 The South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out the minimum amount of private amenity 
for 2 bedroom units at 50 square metres and 100 square metres for three bedroom 
properties and above. 

The layout of the development ensures that both units exceed this minimum amount. 
The retained dwelling had a rear garden of 116 square metres whilst the new dwelling 
benefits from 59 square metres.

The inability to provide these minimum standards would be an indicator that a proposal 
amounts to an overdevelopment. However this is not the case here. Both properties 
demonstrate that they are able to provide the required garden and parking provision 
and in my view this does not amount to an over development of the site. 

6.19 To ensure that the council can control future development and avoid the private 
amenity space being eroded or lost, conditions are proposed which seek remove the 
normal permitted development rights to extend the dwelling and erect outbuildings in 
the garden

6.20 Although the shape of the plots will not be regular it is important to note that the existing 
plot is not a regular shape but this will not be appreciable from outside of the site and 
will not cause any visual harm. 

6.21

Impact on the amenities of the occupants of nearby properties. 

Impact on residential amenity is normally considered in terms of whether a 
development results in material harm by way of overlooking, loss of sunlight or being so 
large and close that it is considered oppressive and overbearing. 

6.22 The two most affected properties are the existing 7 Trent Road and the neighbouring 5 
Trent Road.

In terms of the existing 5 Trent Road the new dwelling is set forward and to the north 
east. This position and juxtaposition means that it will not cause a loss of sunlight or 
impact the outlook from the main windows on the front of the building. In respect of 
overlooking, the position forward of the house but not directly in front of it, means that 
the proposed first floor windows will have no greater overlooking of the rear garden 
than is possible from the existing neighbouring properties first floor windows. 

6.23 The greatest impact of the development will be to number 5 Trent Road to the east. 
This impact will be to the existing windows on the front of that building. An important 

Page 67



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 30 November 2016

factor is that there is an existing building in relatively the same location which has an 
established effect on the living room window at number 5. The issue therefore is to 
consider the difference in terms of the existing situation and what is proposed. 

6.24 The existing building is 4.3 metres high at the apex of the roof and 2.6 metres to the 
eaves. The new building is 8 metres high to the ridge and 5.4 metres to the eaves. It is 
located to the north west. In this position it will not result in a direct loss of sunlight to 
the living room windows. Its height however will have an impact on the overall amount 
of light coming in to the bay window which serves the living room. However, the building 
will be at a 45 degree angle to the centre of the living room window. Which means the 
main outlook is not of the new or the existing building but onto the front boundary of 
number 5 with the road. 

6.25 In addition the first floor windows on the new building are set so far forward that they 
will not enable views of the most private area of the rear garden of number 5 as the 
dwelling of number 5 will physically block such views. Also the rear of the new building 
sits behind the front wall of number 5 such that it will not create direct overlooking in to 
the front windows.

6.26 It is accepted that the increase in height of a building in this position will have an impact 
on the amenities of the occupants of number 5. When taking account of its position 
relative to the windows on the front of number 5, I conclude that on balance the harm 
that it would cause is not significant to the point that it would outweigh the presumption 
in favour of sustainable development.

6.27

Impact on highway safety. 

The new dwelling will be accessed via the existing private driveway serving numbers 7, 
9 and 11 Trent Road. No alterations are proposed to the access. The addition of one 
further dwelling using the access is not considered to result in harmful impact to the 
highway network

Whilst it is noted that there is local concern that there is no visitor parking provision and 
about the parking of construction vehicles these do not in themselves amount to a 
reason for refusal of planning permission. The council does not have a requirement for 
the provision of visitor parking for domestic residential dwellings and the council cannot 
control where construction vehicles park. However the latter would be a matter for the 
police if this were to prove a highway safety issues.

6.28 The council’s maximum parking standards seek 2 spaces both for the retained number 
7 Trent Road and the new property. The application was amended so that the siting of 
the spaces for the new dwelling were clearly defined. Conditions are proposed at the 
suggestion of the Highway Authority that the parking areas shall be provided in 
accordance with the plans prior to the building being occupied and that they are then 
retained.

6.29

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)

The council’s CIL charging schedule has been adopted. CIL is a planning charge that 
local authorities can implement to help deliver infrastructure and to support the 
development of their area, and is primarily calculated on the increase in footprint 
created as a result of the development. 

Page 68



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee  - 30 November 2016

In this case CIL is liable as the proposal involves the creation of a new dwelling. 

6.30

Other issues. 

A neighbour representation has raised a concern about a hedgehog habitat on the 
boundary between the site and number 5 Trent Road. Whilst the council does have a 
duty to conserve biodiversity there is no specific legislation that affords for the 
protection of hedgehogs; they are however a priority species under Section 41 of the 
National Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.  An informative is therefore 
proposed drawing the applicant’s attention to the possibility of finding hedgehogs and 
making every effort to not cause harm. 

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Your officers recommend that planning permission is granted because the proposal will 

create a new dwelling in a sustainable location and accords with paragraph 14 of the 
NPPF which sets out the presumption favour of sustainable development. 

Whilst there will be an impact to both the overall character of the area and to neighbour 
amenity the resulting harm is not significant and does out outweigh the benefit of the 
development. 

The site affords for adequate levels of parking and garden space both of which can be 
controlled by the imposition of the attached conditions. Overall the proposal accords 
with development plan polices. 

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 To grant planning permission subject to the following conditions: 

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans. 
3. Sample materials required (all).
4. Withdrawal of permitted development rights (Part 1 Class A) - no 

extensions etc.
5. Withdrawal of permitted development rights (Part 1 Class E) - no buildings 

etc.
6. Parking and manoeuvring areas retained. 
7. Plan of car parking provision (specified number of spaces). 

Author:         Paul Bowers
E-mail :         paul.bowers@southandvale.gov.uk
Contact No:  01235 422600

Page 69

mailto:paul.bowers@southandvale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Page 71

Agenda Item 10



7B Trent Road, Didcot, OX11 7QQ 1:1250

xmin = 453400
Projection = OSGB36

ymin = 190500
xmax = 453800
ymax = 190800

Copyright resides with the data suppliers and the map 
must not be reproduced without their permission. Some 
information in MAGIC is a snapshot of the information 
that is being maintained or continually updated by the 
originating organisation. Please refer to the metadata for 
details as information may be illustrative or representative 
rather than definitive at this stage.    

Map produced by MAGIC on 20 February, 2016.

(c) Crown Copyright and database rights 2016. Ordnance Survey 100022861.

Location Plan: proposed building plot adjacent to existing dwelling at 7 Trent Road, Didcot, OX11 6DG

Scale 1:1250
Location Plan: proposed building plot adjacent to existing dwelling at 7 Trent Road, Didcot, OX11 7QQ

Scale 1:1250

Appendix 2

P
age 72



Site Ownership Plan, 7 Trent Road 1:1250

xmin = 453400
Projection = OSGB36

ymin = 190500
xmax = 453800
ymax = 190800

Copyright resides with the data suppliers and the map 
must not be reproduced without their permission. Some 
information in MAGIC is a snapshot of the information 
that is being maintained or continually updated by the 
originating organisation. Please refer to the metadata for 
details as information may be illustrative or representative 
rather than definitive at this stage.    

Map produced by MAGIC on 24 February, 2016.

(c) Crown Copyright and database rights 2016. Ordnance Survey 100022861.

P
age 73



P
age 74



P
age 75



P
age 76



P
age 77



P
age 78



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

APPLICATION NO. P16/S3268/FUL
APPLICATION TYPE FULL APPLICATION
REGISTERED 3.10.2016
PARISH WALLINGFORD
WARD MEMBER(S) Elaine Hornsby

Imran Lokhon
APPLICANT Mr Graham Wells
SITE 99 High Street, Wallingford, OX10 0BW
PROPOSAL Demolition of barn. Erection of one, part-single 

storey part-two-storey, dwelling house. 
AMENDMENTS As clarified by Contaminated Land Questionnaire 

and amended by drawing no HSW 003B - revised 
floor plan showing first floor window in east elevation 
at cill height (1.7m above FFL) accompanying 
Agent's email dated 25 October 2016 and as further 
clarified by  drawings  02C, 04C, 09B, SK1 and 
additional planning statement received 15 
November 2016 detailing the level changes adjacent 
to the boundary wall.

GRID REFERENCE 460930/189528
OFFICER Sharon Crawford

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The application has been referred to committee at the request of the local member Cllr 

Elaine Hornsby. 

1.2 The site lies in backland location behind properties on the north side of The High 
Street in Wallingford. The site is within the Wallingford conservation area and some 
25 metres away from the boundary with the Scheduled Ancient Monument of 
Wallingford Castle; the site is also with an archaeologically sensitive area of the Anglo 
Saxon/medieval settlement of Wallingford. Access to the site is provided from an 
existing lane. The battlemented, octagonal stone piers and gates on the High Street 
frontage are listed as a grade II listed building.100 and 102 (The Town Arms) High St 
to the south of the site are also grade II listed buildings.

1.3 The site is identified on the Ordnance Survey Extract attached at Appendix 1.

1.4 This application follows on from a recent planning application for a single dwelling where 
planning permission was refused (ref P15/S4360/FUL) and from pre-application advice 
in 2014 and 2015 (ref P14/S1207/PEM). 

2.0 PROPOSAL
2.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of an existing 

dilapidated barn and the construction of a two storey, three bedroom dwelling. The 
existing building is some 7m x 4m and the proposed replacement building is some 12 x 
5m with single storey, lean-to off shoots to each long side which provide an entrance 
hall and utility/WC. The siting has been changed from the recently refused scheme in 
response to concerns in respect of neighbour impact and concern in relation to the 
boundary wall.

2.2 Additional plans have been received to clarify the cill height of the first floor window on 

Page 79

Agenda Item 11

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P16/S3268/FUL


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

the east elevation and changes of levels in relation to the adjacent boundary wall.

2.3 Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix 2. 
Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on the 
Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

3.0 SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Full responses can be found on the Council’s website

3.1 Wallingford 
Town Council 

Original plans – Wallingford Town Councillors at their Plans and 
General Purposes meeting on the 17th October recommended 
Refusal on grounds of over-development and unneighbourly. 
Archaeological Caveat Required.

Amended plans – Approval subject to: 
Ensuring that there are no deviations to the most recent plans 
submitted especially regarding height and the use of the wall. 
There must be an Archaeological Caveat.

3.2 OCC (Highways) The proposal is unlikely to result in any significant intensification of 
transport activity at the site. No change is proposed to the existing 
access arrangements. The proposal is unlikely to have a significant 
adverse impact on the highway network. 
No objection subject to a condition to secure parking and turning.
(Comments are from previous application)

3.3 OCC 
(Archaeology)

It is likely that this development could encounter archaeological 
deposits related to the Castle defences and the late Saxon and 
Medieval development of the town. No objection subject to 
conditions to require a Written Scheme of Investigation and staged 
programme of investigation.

3.4 Conservation Original plans - This proposed footprint of the building has been 
moved slightly to the north, away from the neighbouring boundary 
wall to 100 High Street. This goes someway to alleviate concerns 
about the long term maintenance of the curtilage listed wall which 
would now be accessible from both the sides. The section plan of 
the site remains a little unclear as to how the levels will be altered at 
the base of the existing curtilage wall. Although the design and 
access statement describes that the foundations for the new 
dwelling are away from the existing boundary wall, I am unclear 
how the levels will or will not be changed given that the levels 
across the site are to be lowered. If there is to be a gradient 
difference between the wall and new dwelling, this should be shown 
on a site section plan that illustrates this specific relationship. The 
overall ridge height of the proposed building is as per the previous 
scheme which was not considered to adversely affect the setting of 
neighbouring listed buildings or the character and appearance of 
the Conservation Area. As such, I have no objection.

Amended plans – to be updated verbally

Page 80

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

3.5 Countryside 
Officer

I have assessed the proposals and I am satisfied that there are 
unlikely to be any significant ecological impacts if planning 
permission is granted. (Comments are from previous 
application)

3.6 Enviromental 
Protection (Air 
Quality) 

Based on the location of the proposed development adjacent to an 
air quality management area, the increased traffic associated with 
the development will contribute to the pollution both within and 
surrounding the air quality management area, in order to protect 
public health from the cumulative impact of developments and the 
impact on the air quality management area, mitigation is required in 
line with SODC@s developer guidance and national guidance. I 
have no objections to the principle of the application subject to a 
condition to require EV charging points for cars and some cycle 
parking.

3.7 Enviromental 
Protection 
(contaminated 
land)

I have reviewed the application from a contaminated land 
perspective and have no comments.

3.8 Wallingford 
Historical & 
Archaeological 
Soc

We wish fully to endorse the comments of the County Planning 
Archaeologist. In particular, we feel strongly that this is potentially a 
highly important archaeological site which deserves a 'staged 
programme of archaeological investigation to be maintained during 
the period of construction'. 

3.9 Neighbours 
Objecting (3)

This application is merely a ‘variation’ of the previous application 
P15/S4360/FUL and has not addressed the reasons for refusal of 
that previous application. Within the previous Notice of Refusal, 
there is reference to that application being contrary to policy H4 of 
the adopted South Oxfordshire Local Plan. Essentially, the 
proposals within the current application have not materially changed 
and we are therefore of the opinion that this current application 
should be refused for the same reasons.

I still retain my objection to the application, whilst recognising the 
proposed changes have removed a number of the previous 
concerns. I believe it is accepted that the size of the building is 
similar to the size of the building in the previous application. 
However, despite the applicants statement that the committee had 
confirmed that “albeit that the principle of replacing the barn with a 
dwelling was generally accepted” the actual minutes of the 
Committee meeting state “The committee considered the 
application to be overbearing and unneighbourly.”
There is still a lack of clarity on a number of points – particularly the 
wall
In spite of the new building being moved away from my listed wall, 
there will still be significant ground works immediately adjacent to 
my wall which have the potential to destabilise and damage the 
wall.
The previous application was also rejected on the basis of “having 
regard to the size and scale of the proposed new dwelling the 
proposal represents an unneighbourly and overbearing form of 
development “ and, in spite of the marginal change in its position, 

Page 81



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

the size and scale has not changed from the previous application 
and it remains an overdevelopment of the site. 
There are several misleading points in the planning statement.

Neighbours 
Supporting (1)

The area is currently blighted by a derelict potentially dangerous 
building. This proposal is well thought out, sensitive to the environs 
and allows the land to be used to the benefit of all concerned.

Neighbour No 
Strong Views (1)

The Wallingford Historical and Archaeological Society (TWHAS) 
wishes to draw attention to the importance of this site in relation to 
the original outworks of the castle, which is not fully appreciated in 
the submitted Heritage Assessment. Further investigations should 
be required.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
4.1 P15/S4360/FUL - Refused (18/05/2016)

Demolition of barn; erection of a two-storey dwellinghouse. (As clarified/ amended by 
drawing no 2520- 301A, 302A, 303A and 304A accompanying Agent's letter dated 22 
February 2016 and further clarified by Agent's emails dated 11 and 12 April 2016 in 
relation to ownership of wall). As amended by revised certificate of ownership dated 26 
April 2016.

P14/S1207/PEM - Other Outcome (21/05/2014)
Demolition of barn and erection of a three bed detached dwelling.

Pre application advice comprising of an office meeting followed a letter.

5.0 POLICY & GUIDANCE
5.1 South Oxfordshire Core Strategy policies

CS1  -  Presumption in favour of sustainable development
CSS1  -  The Overall Strategy
CSEN3  -  Historic environment
CSQ2  -  Sustainable design and construction
CSQ3  -  Design
CSH4  -  Meeting housing needs
CSWAL1  -  The Strategy for Wallingford

5.2 South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies;

CON3 – Alterations to listed buildings
CON5  -  Setting of listed building
CON6 – Demolishing buildings in Conservation Areas
CON7  -  Proposals in a conservation area
CON11 - Archaeology
CON12 - Archaeology
EP1  -  Adverse affect on people and environment
EP3  -  Adverse affect by external lighting
EP6  -  Sustainable drainage
EP8  -  Contaminated land
D1  -  Principles of good design
D10  -  Waste Management
D2  -  Safe and secure parking for vehicles and cycles
D3  -  Outdoor amenity area
D4  -  Reasonable level of privacy for occupiers

Page 82

http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P15/S4360/FUL
http://www.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/planning/ApplicationDetails.jsp?REF=P14/S1207/PEM


South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

G2  -  Protect district from adverse development
H4  -  Housing sites in towns and larger villages outside Green Belt
T1  -  Safe, convenient and adequate highway network for all users
T2  -  Unloading, turning and parking for all highway users

South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016

Draft Wallingford Conservation Area Appraisal

5.3 National Planning Policy Framework

National Planning Policy Framework Planning Practice Guidance

Paragraph 216 of the NPPF allows for weight to be given to relevant policies in 
emerging plans, unless other material considerations indicate otherwise, and only 
subject to the stage of preparation of the plan, the extent of unresolved objections and 
the degree of consistency of the relevant emerging policies with the NPPF.

Wallingford Town Council are working towards the adoption of a neighbourhood plan 
and are at stage 1 in the process - (Area designation) claim submitted to DCLG. The 
neighbourhood plan has limited weight at this stage.

5.4 Other Relevant Legislation 

 Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas Act) 1990 
 Community & Infrastructure Levy Legislation Human Rights Act 1998 
 Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
 Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 
 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 

6.0 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
6.1 Background. Members will recall the previous application on this site which was 

considered by the planning committee on 18 May 2016. Planning permission for one 
dwelling was refused for the following reasons: 

1. That, having regard to the size and scale of the proposed new dwelling, its 
position on the boundary and the resulting relationship with 100 High Street, 
the proposal represents an unneighbourly and overbearing form of 
development that would detract from the residential amenity of the occupants 
of 100 High Street, Wallingford. As such the proposal is contrary to saved 
policies G2 and H4 of the adopted South Oxfordshire Local Plan. 

2. There is insufficient information to assess the full impact of development on the 
listed wall at 100 High Street given the amount of ground works proposed 
immediately adjacent to the listed wall. Without such information to show that 
the designated asset can be conserved in an acceptable manner, the limited 
public benefit of the proposal would not outweigh the potential harm to a 
designated heritage asset. As such the proposal is contrary to Policies G2, 
CON3 and Paragraphs 131, 132 and 134 of the NPPF.

A copy of the plans from the refused scheme are attached at Appendix 3.

Page 83



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

6.2 The main issues in this case are;

 Whether the principle of development is acceptable
 H4 criteria 
 Provision of gardens
 Impact on setting of surrounding listed buildings
 Impact on the conservation area
 Air quality
 CIL

6.3 Principle. The National Planning Policy Framework advises that there is a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. This is echoed within policy CS1 
of the South Oxfordshire Core Strategy. The site lies in the centre of Wallingford, one 
of the towns in the district. It is a sustainable location and Policy CSWAL1 of SOCS 
sets out the overall strategy for the town. One of the aims of CSWAL1 allows for 
housing on suitable infill and redevelopment sites within the town. The scheme 
involves the redevelopment of a brownfield site which would accord with the overall 
strategy for Wallingford and is acceptable in principle.

6.3.1 If a proposed housing development is acceptable in principle then the detail of the 
proposal must be assessed against the criteria of saved Policy H4 of the SOLP.

H4 criteria issues.

6.3.2      i      That an important open space of public, environmental or ecological   
             value is not lost;
There is no public access to the site and views from public vantage points are 
limited. The existing building (a barn) is visible from the south-east in the gap 
between the Boat House PH and Town Arms PH. Views from the south-west from 
the High Street are almost completely obscured. As such the site cannot be regarded 
as an important open space of public value.

6.3.3 The countryside officer assessed the proposed demolition of the barn and 
redevelopment under the previous application. He advised that there is unlikely to be 
any significant ecological result of the development. 
Environmental elements are assessed further below.

6.4     ii      Design, height and bulk in keeping with the surroundings;
The replacement building is barn style in order to reflect the details of the existing 
structure on the site. The proposed materials of timber cladding, brick and plain clay 
roof tiles are also the same as existing. The proposed building has a greater footprint 
than the existing barn but the submitted plans show that the ridge height will be 
roughly equal to the existing (allowing for excavation to lower the ground floor levels). 

6.4.1

6.4.2

From the south only a small portion of new wall and the whole roof would be visible 
over the existing boundary walls. The appearance to the north and west is more 
strikingly altered to introduce light into the dwelling, this will, however, have limited 
impact from glimpsed vantage points within the Conservation Area. 

Whilst the proposed building has a larger footprint, it is of a similar form, height and 
materials to the existing building, it is therefore in keeping with the surroundings.

Page 84



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

6.5.      iii     That the character of the area is not adversely affected;
This is an extremely sensitive site within Wallingford with a number of listed buildings 
and buildings of local note surrounding and it is close to the scheduled ancient 
monument (SAM) of Wallingford Castle. The High Street is defined by a number of 
highly significant buildings and its character is such that with few exceptions they 
front directly onto the street, there are few gaps along High Street that allow for rear 
access as in this case.

6.5.1 Historically, it appears from available mapping that there has been a building at this 
location since at least 1899 (Second Edition OS Map). The building has suffered 
partial collapse since the last application and it does not enhance the Conservation 
Area. The linear and barnlike design of the replacement building goes someway to 
preserve the character of the site and its relationship to surrounding built structures 
will remain similar.

6.5.2 The existing building extends across the rear boundary of 101 High Street. In the 
current scheme the siting of the proposed building has been changed; the two storey 
element has been pulled away from the boundary by some 2 metres and been 
shifted to the east. The incursion across the rear boundary of 100 High Street has 
consequently been much reduced. The height of the building remains the same as 
existing, although the ground level will be lowered. The principle of rooflights to the 
southern roof slope to light the landing are acceptable. As this will be the most 
prominent part of the building within the Conservation Area it is important that the 
appearance is characteristic of the design style chosen, the number of rooflights has 
been reduced on this elevation and a condition is recommended to ensure that the 
rooflights are of a conservation style. 

6.5.3 During the earlier application officers had some reservations at pre-application stage 
that the introduction of domestic residential use on this site would compromise the 
setting of neighbouring listed buildings, the pattern of development within the 
Conservation Area and the historic use of this site as ancillary to a main domestic 
dwelling.

6.6 Having considered this further your officers acknowledge that there will be some 
change to the character of this site and its ancillary relationship to neighbouring 
buildings as a result of domestic use here. However, there is no alteration proposed 
to the existing definition of the plot boundary and access and the scale of the new 
dwelling is acceptable in relation to the existing structure. Overall, if there is any 
harm this change constitutes less than substantial harm to the designated heritage 
assets and as such this harm is outweighed by public benefit as per the test of 
paragraph 134 of the NPPF and the guidance set out in the accompanying NPPG. 
Given the highly sustainable location of the site and the limited visibility of the site 
from public vantage points the proposal will not adversely affect the character of the 
area in your officer’s view.

6.6.1    iv       Amenity, environmental or highway/ parking objections;

Highway issues. The scheme proposes to use an existing vehicular access point 
onto High Street and no changes are proposed to the access. The proposal is 
unlikely to result in any significant intensification of transport activity at the site. The 
Highway Engineer had no objection to the previous scheme subject to a condition to 
secure turning and parking areas. There has been no change of circumstances to 
alter this view.

Page 85



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

6.6.2 Neighbour impact
The site has neighbouring residential properties on all sides. 100 and 101 High street 
to the south, Thames Cottage to the east, Castle Lane House to the north, and St 
Nicholas House and 98 High Street to the west. Neighbours have re-iterated their 
concerns to the original scheme which related to overlooking, oppressive 
development and undermining of the wall on the southern boundary of the site.

6.6.3 100 High Street. The extension in footprint of the new building across the rear 
boundary of 100 High Street has been much reduced. The boundary to 100 is 
currently marked by a high wall. There is also a difference in levels with the garden of 
100 being 0.45m above the existing level of the site. Members expressed some 
concern about the impact of the refused scheme on the integrity of the wall and the 
neighbour impact. 

In the current scheme the siting of the proposed building has been changed; the two 
storey element has been pulled away from the boundary by some 2 metres and been 
shifted to the east. The height of the building remains the same as existing, although 
the ground level will be lowered by some 0.65m. 

Proposed south elevation Refused scheme

6.6.4 The new wall along this boundary at two storey height will be set off the boundary by 
two metres and has been shifted to the east by some 1.8 metres. The new wall and 
the roof will be clearly visible from the garden of 100. Neighbours have expressed 
concern about the impact of the increased height of the wall and building on the use 
of the garden and blocking an existing view. There will undoubtedly be an additional 
impact on the garden to 100 High Street but given the changes in levels, with the 
garden of 100 being higher and the orientation of the building the impact is not 
considered to be unacceptable given the presence of the existing building. New 
rooflights are proposed in the southern elevation of the new dwelling to light a first 
floor corridor. The section drawing shows that these rooflights will be well above 
normal head height and any overlooking will not be possible. A condition to restrict 
the addition of new windows in the southern elevation and any extensions to the new 
dwelling is considered reasonable and necessary to avoid any potential overlooking 
or overbearing impact.

6.6.5 101 High Street. The existing building extends across the rear boundary of 101 High 
Street, and the height of the new building will be similar. New rooflights are proposed 
in the southern elevation of the new dwelling to light a first floor corridor. Neighbours 
have expressed some concern about potential overlooking from these rooflights. The 
section drawing shows that these rooflights will be well above normal head height 
and any overlooking will not be possible. The impact on the amenity of the occupants 
at 101 High Street will be very similar to the impact from the existing building. A 
condition to restrict the addition of new windows in the southern elevation of the new 

Page 86



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

dwelling is considered reasonable and necessary to avoid any potential overlooking

6.6.6 Thames Cottage. The east elevation of the proposed new dwelling includes a high 
level window in the gable to light the master bedroom. The plans and sections show 
that the cill height to this window is 1.7m to avoid any overlooking. A condition is 
recommended to ensure that the cill height is controlled.

6.6.7 Castle Lane House. There is a substantial Leylandii hedge on the northern 
boundary of the site and a distance of some 38m between the proposed new building 
and Castle Lane House. Given the distances involved the overlooking from any 
windows is not considered to materially harm neighbour amenity.

6.6.8 St Nicolas. The substantial garden are to St Nicolas lies to the west of the site on 
the opposite side of the access track. The west elevation of the new dwelling 
includes large areas of glazing to a kitchen on the ground floor and a bedroom at first 
floor. Given the boundary wall on part of the boundary and vegetative screening to 
the St Nicolas garden and to the distances involved the overlooking from any 
windows is not considered to materially harm neighbour amenity.

6.6.9 98 High Street. The rear garden of 98 High Street lies to the south west of the site 
on the opposite side of the access track. The west elevation of the new dwelling 
includes large areas of glazing to a kitchen on the ground floor and a bedroom at first 
floor. Neighbours have expressed some concern about potential overlooking from 
these windows. Given the orientation and to the distances involved the overlooking 
from any windows is not considered to materially harm neighbour amenity.

In the circumstances the neighbour impact is considered to be acceptable. 

6.7 v        Backland development issues
The site is in a backland location but will be accessed off an existing access. 
Backland development can be acceptable where there are no issues of privacy or 
access. These issues are considered above at paragraph 6.6.

6.8 Provision of gardens. Minimum standards for new residential development are 
recommended in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide and in saved Policy D3 of the 
Local Plan. A minimum of 100 square metres for three and four (or above) bed 
dwellings is required. The site provides over 200 square metres of amenity area 
which is in excess of the requirement and is acceptable in this respect.

6.9 Setting of listed buildings and ancient monument.  The battlemented octagonal 
stone piers and gates on the High Street frontage are listed as a grade II listed 
building. These gates mark one of the former entrances to the Castle grounds. 100 
and 102 (The Town Arms) High St to the south of the site are also grade II listed 
buildings. The listing for 100 High Street includes the side and rear boundary wall. All 
the listed buildings are designated heritage assets. Paragraph 132 of the NPPF 
requires that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the 
significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the 
asset’s conservation.

6.9.1 Impact on setting.
The proposed building is of a similar form, height and materials to the existing 
building. The siting of the building has been amended from the previous scheme; it is 
set in off the boundary and no longer extends across the full rear boundary of 100 
High Street. Whilst there will be some change to the setting of the building and wall, I 
consider this change to constitute less than substantial harm (Paragraph 134 of the 
NPPF) as the building was not designed to look out specifically to this area and the 

Page 87



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

special interest of the buildings will not be totally eroded. 

6.9.2 Impact on structure of the wall. Neighbours have expressed concern about the 
structure of the listed wall to 100 High Street given the reduction of ground level of 
some 0.65m and to difficulties of future maintenance. As with any digging down 
where there has been no assessment of the existing footings of a building or 
structure, it can be difficult to accurately assess what impact there might be. 
However, there is no intention to alter the listed wall and it is not unusual to have 
construction occurring in close proximity to existing structures. The amended plans 
clearly show that the level changes will not extend up to the listed boundary wall to 
100; a retaining wall will be provided some 1.4 m off the wall (see below for detail). 

Section from current block plan Block plan from Refused scheme.

6.9.3 In terms of maintenance the rear wall of the 101 High Street and the listed wall at 
100 High Street are not in complete alignment. There is now only a short section of 
the wall to 101 where a new wall is to be construction adjacent. Any gap between the 
new wall and old wall to 101 will be sealed to prevent water penetration and the 
collection of debris. Maintenance to the listed wall to 100 will not be impeded.

6.10 Impact on conservation area. The site lies in the Wallingford conservation area 
and within 25 metres of the Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM) of Wallingford 
Castle. The conservation area and SAM are designated heritage assets. Paragraph 
132 of the NPPF requires that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should 
be given to the asset’s conservation.
For the reasons set out in paragraph 6.5 the impact on the character of the 
conservation area and the SAM is considered acceptable.

6.11 Air quality. The historic form of the town and its river crossings lead to issues of air 
quality in the centre and there is an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) for 
Wallingford to monitor air quality. Based on the size and location of the proposed 
development being adjacent to an existing (AQMA), basic good practice design 
should be applied to this site in order to help mitigate against the air quality impacts 
and the potential cumulative effects of piecemeal developments and to enable future 
proofing of the development. There are no objections to the application subject to the 
provision of an EV charging point for cars and a condition to secure this provision is 
recommended.

6.12 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The council’s CIL charging schedule has 
been adopted and will apply to relevant proposals from 1 April 2016. CIL is a 
planning charge that local authorities can implement to help deliver infrastructure and 
to support the development of their area, and is primarily calculated on the increase 

Page 88



South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 30 November 2016

in footprint created as a result of the development. 

In this case CIL is liable for the whole building because the existing building has not 
been in use and the proposal involves the creation of a new dwelling. The CIL charge 
applied to new residential development in this case is £150 per square metre of 
additional floorspace (Zone 1). 15% of the CIL payment will go directly to Wallingford 
Town Council (in the absence of an adopted Neighbourhood Plan) for spending 
towards local projects.

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 Wallingford is a sustainable location where infill development and redevelopment of 

existing sites is permitted in principle. 

The new dwelling would replace an existing building. The proposed building is of a 
similar form, height and materials to the existing building. The increase in footprint can 
be accommodated on the site in a way that conserves the setting of the surrounding 
listed buildings, SAM and the conservation area.

The design and materials reflects local vernacular and building materials and does not 
detract from the wider character of the area, the setting of the conservation area or the 
setting of listed buildings. The site affords for sufficient amenity space and parking and 
does not result in a materially harmful unneighbourly impact to adjacent properties. 
Conditions are proposed relating to highway matters, air quality, materials and 
archaeology. 

The development accords with the relevant development plan policies.

8.0 RECOMMENDATION
8.1 That planning permission is granted subject to the following conditions: 

1. Commencement three years - full planning permission.
2. Approved plans. 
3. Sample materials required (all).
4. Remove permitted development rights for extensions, roof alterations and 

windows.
5. Submit written scheme of investigation.
6. Implementation of programme or archaeological work.
7. Turning area and car parking.
8. Air quality - provision of electric vehicle charging points.
9. Conservation style rooflights.
10. Minimum cill height of 1.7m for window in east elevation.

Author:        Sharon Crawford
Contact No: 01235 540546
Email:           planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 91

Agenda Item 11

SHACRA
Typewriter
Appendix 1

SHACRA_1
Typewriter
Application site



P
age 92

SHACRA_2
Typewriter
Appendix 2

SHACRA_3
Typewriter
Proposed floor plan and wall detail



P
age 93

SHACRA_4
Typewriter
Appendix 2

SHACRA_5
Typewriter
Proposed Block Plan



P
age 94

SHACRA_6
Typewriter
Appendix 2

SHACRA_7
Typewriter
Proposed West Elevation



P
age 95

SHACRA_8
Typewriter
Appendix 2

SHACRA_9
Typewriter
Proposed North Elevation



P
age 96

SHACRA_10
Typewriter
Appendix 2

SHACRA_11
Typewriter
Proposed East Elevation



P
age 97

SHACRA_12
Typewriter
Appendix 2

SHACRA_13
Typewriter
Proposed South Elevation



P
age 98

SHACRA_14
Typewriter
Appendix 2

SHACRA_15
Typewriter
Proposed Section



P
age 99

SHACRA_16
Typewriter
Appendix 2

SHACRA_17
Typewriter
Proposed Sight Line



drwgno BLO 001
Page 100

SHACRA_18
Typewriter
Appendix 3

SHACRA_19
Typewriter
Refused block Plan



P
age 101

SHACRA_20
Typewriter
Appendix 3

SHACRA_21
Typewriter
Refused elevation



P
age 102

SHACRA_22
Typewriter
Appendix 3

SHACRA_23
Typewriter
Refused Floor Plan


	Agenda
	6 116-118 Greys Road, Henley-on-Thames
	P16/S2459/FUL - 116-118 Greys Road, Henley-on-Thames - Appendices
	Appendia A
	Appendix B1
	Appendix B2
	Appendix B3
	Appendix B4
	Appendix B5
	Appendix B6


	7 Goats Gambol, Beech Lane, Woodcote
	P16/S2714/FUL - Goats Gambol, Beech Lane, Woodcote - Appendices
	1 Full page photo
	2 Site_Layout_Plan_dwgno_GG5A
	3 Site Location Plan drwgno LOC-01 REV A
	3a Site Layout Plan drwgno AAN.16.590.4.REV B
	3b Existing layout plan 1.50 and 1.100 Goats Gambol RG8 0PY(A1)
	3c Proposed Floor and Elevation Plans drwgno AAN.16.590.1.REV B. 
	3d Proposed Floor and Elevation Plan drwgo AAN 16 590 2


	8 The Old Forge, High Street, Tetsworth
	P16/S1904/FUL and P16/S1835/LB - The Old Forge, High Street, Tetsworth - Appendices
	1 Appendix A Location plan
	2 Appendix B Existing plans & elevations
	3 Appendix C Proposed site plan
	3a Appendix C Proposed plans and elevations


	9 2 Gidley Way, Horspath
	P16/S2902/FUL - 2 Gidley Way, Horspath - Appendices
	1 GIS
	2 Existing and Proposed Block Plan, and Location Plan drwgno VL.2015_44_01
	2a Proposed Floor Plan drwgno VL.2015_44_04
	2b Proposed Elevation Plan drwgno VL.2015_44_05


	10 7 Trent Road, Didcot
	P16/S3163/FUL - 7 Trent Road, Didcot - Appendices
	1 GIS Plan
	2 Location Plan drwgno LOC002
	2a Ownership Plan drwgno LOC001
	2c EXISTING SITE PLAN drwgno A001
	2d MBI_1000-01_A003_PROPOSED EXTERNAL SITE PLAN_PL-C
	2e EXISTING ELEVATIONS drwgno A002
	2f PROPOSED ELEVATIONS drwgno A005
	2g PROPOSED FLOOR PLAN drwgno A004


	11 99 High Street, Wallingford
	P16/S3268/FUL - 99 High Street, Wallingford - Appendices
	Appendix 1 Location_Plan
	Appendix 2 Floor Plan Ground Proposed drwgno HSW 004 C
	Appendix 2 Proposed Block plan 002 C
	Appendix 2 Proposed Elevation drwgno HSW 005
	Appendix 2 Proposed Elevation drwgno HSW 006
	Appendix 2 Proposed Elevation drwgno HSW 007
	Appendix 2 Proposed Elevation drwgno HSW 008
	Appendix 2 Section Plan A-A Proposed drwgno HSW 009 B
	Appendix 2 Sight Lines Sketch Cross Section drwgno SK1
	Appendix 3 Block Plan drwgno BLO 001 
	Appendix 3 Elevations Proposed drwgno 2520 - 301 Rev A
	Appendix 3 Floor Plans Ground Proposed drwgno 2520 - 302 Rev A





